
  

v1 2021 

AGENDA  
Meeting: Environment Committee 

Date: Monday 15 November 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's Walk, 
London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found on our website at 
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees. 

Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live on 
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/youtube and  
www.london.gov.uk/media-centre/london-assembly where you can also view past meetings. 

Members of the Committee 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair) 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Léonie Cooper AM 

Emma Best AM 

Hina Bokhari AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Sakina Sheikh AM 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 
listed below.  

Proper Officer: Mary Harpley, Chief Officer 

 Friday 5 November 2021 

Further Information 

If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Fiona Bywaters, Committee Services Manager; Telephone: 0207 983 4425;  
Email: fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk. For media enquiries please contact: Alison Bell, Head of 
Communications; Telephone: 07887 832 918; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk. If you have any 
questions about individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  

This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda. The meeting will comply with applicable Government guidance and Regulations 
in relation to Covid-19. It is suggested that any member of the press or public wishing to attend the 
meeting in-person contacts the clerk (listed above) in advance. A guide for the press and public on 
attending and reporting meetings of local government bodies, including the use of film, photography, 
social media and other means is available online at Openness in Meetings.pdf. There is access for 
disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground parking for orange 
and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  Please contact 
Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or further 
information. 

www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees
www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/youtube
www.london.gov.uk/media-centre/london-assembly
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 

Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

 

3 

Agenda 

Environment Committee 

Monday 15 November 2021 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements   

To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair. 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Fiona Bywaters, fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4425 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 
Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 
in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 
relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring 
Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary action taken by 
the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 50)  

The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 
on 30 September 2021 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 51 - 54)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Fiona Bywaters, fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4425 

The Committee is recommended to note the ongoing actions arising from previous 
meetings of the Environment Committee. 



 

 

4 

5 Circular Economy, Waste and Recycling (Pages 55 - 58)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Luis Alvarado, luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk, 07733 305 791 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests and note 
the subsequent discussion; and 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman and 
party Group Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the meeting. 

6 Environment Committee Work Programme (Pages 59 - 68)  

Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Luis Alvarado, luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk, 07733 305 791 

The Committee is recommended to: 

(a) Note its work programme and informal activity, namely invitations to the 
Southwark Council Staff Climate Network and COP26; and 

(b) Note the response received from the Mayor of London regarding London’s 
engagement with COP26, as well as the additional correspondence sent and 
received on this subject. 

7 Date of Next Meeting   

The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 13 December 2021 at 10.00am. 

8 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent   



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

V2/2021 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 

Report to: Environment Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 15 November 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

3. Issues for Consideration 

3.1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a 

Member from participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a 

meeting of the Assembly, where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that 

particular matter. The effect of this is that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must 

be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor 

of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be precluded from participating in an Assembly 

meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the Member’s role / employment as a 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

http://www.london.gov.uk/


councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from participating in a meeting 

where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London Borough X. 

3.2 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table below: 

Assembly Member Interests 

Member Interest 

Marina Ahmad AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Elly Baker AM  

Siân Berry AM Member, London Borough of Camden 

Emma Best AM Member, London Borough of Waltham Forest 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities  

(Council of Europe) 

Hina Bokhari AM Member, London Borough of Merton 

Anne Clarke AM Member, London Borough of Barnet 

Léonie Cooper AM Member, London Borough of Wandsworth 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Len Duvall AM  

Peter Fortune AM Member, London Borough of Bromley 

Neil Garratt AM Member, London Borough of Sutton 

Susan Hall AM Member, London Borough of Harrow 

Krupesh Hirani AM Member, London Borough of Brent 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Sem Moema AM Member, London Borough of Hackney 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Zack Polanski AM  

Keith Prince AM  

Nicholas Rogers AM  

Caroline Russell AM Member, London Borough of Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Sakina Sheikh AM Member, London Borough of Lewisham 

 

  

Page 2



3.3 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  

 where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 

or being considered or at  

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the 

Authority’s functions  

 they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 

that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting; 

or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

UNLESS 

 they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with  

section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 

Appendix 5 to the Code). 

3.4 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as 

is knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

3.5 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.6 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.7 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.8 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The gifts 

and hospitality database may be viewed online.  

3.9 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the online database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or 

when the interest becomes apparent.   

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/people/all-gifts-hospitality
https://www.london.gov.uk/people/all-gifts-hospitality


3.10 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

5. Financial Implications 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Fiona Bywaters, Committee Services Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4425 

E-mail:  fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 4



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

MINUTES 
Meeting: Environment Committee 

Date: Thursday 30 September 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's Walk, 
London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees 

Present: 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair) 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Léonie Cooper AM 

Emma Best AM 

Hina Bokhari AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Sakina Sheikh AM 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

2 Declarations of Interest (Item 2) 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

2.2 Resolved: 

(a)  That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

(b) That the declaration of a non-pecuniary interest by Tony Devenish AM, as a 

former employee of Thames Water, be noted. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/
http://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees


Greater London Authority 

Environment Committee 

Thursday 30 September 2021 

 

3 Minutes (Item 3) 

3.1 Resolved: 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2021 be signed by the Chair as a 

correct record. 

4 Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

4.2 Resolved: 

That the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Environment Committee, as well as additional correspondence sent and received by 

the Chair be noted. 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

5.2 Resolved: 

That the action taken by the Chair of the Committee under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, be noted, namely to: 

(a)  Agree a letter to the Mayor of London on realising the opportunities from 

COP26, as attached at Appendix 1; and 

(b)  Agree a response to the Department for Transport’s consultation on night 

flight restrictions, as attached at Appendix 2. 

6 Climate Adaptation & Climate Risks in London (Item 6) 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on climate adaptation and climate risks to the following invited guests: 

 Professor Jason Lowe OBE, Head of Climate Services, Met Office; 

 Alex Nickson, Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water; 

 Charlotte Wood, London Area Director, Environment Agency; 

 Lilli Matson, Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London (TfL); 

and 

 Peter Daw, Assistant Director for Environment and Energy, and Head of Climate 

Change, Greater London Authority (GLA). 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 

Environment Committee 

Thursday 30 September 2021 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

6.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following additional 

information from the Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water:  

 A copy of the independent review of Thames Waters’ response to the July 2021 

flooding events; and 

 The Terms of Reference of that independent review. 

6.4 The Committee also requested that: 

 The London Area Director, Environment Agency, provide a copy of the July 2021 post-

incident review; 

 The Assistant Director for Environment and Energy, and Head of Climate Change, GLA, 

provide plans for implementation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems solutions and 

infrastructure around hospitals in London, in response to localised flooding which 

caused operational issues and forced closures at Whipps Cross Hospital and Newham 

Hospital in July 2021; and 

 The Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, TfL, provide further information on 

means of increasing urban tree cover on the main road network. 

6.5 At the end of the discussion, the Chair thanked the guests for attending and for their answers 

to the Committee’s questions. 

6.6 The Chair welcomed the second panel of guests: 

 Chris Lee, Director of Environment & Regeneration, London Borough of Merton; 

 Councillor Johnny Thalassites, Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, 

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea; and 

 Patricia Cuervo, Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea. 

6.7 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 2. 

6.8 During the course of the discussion, the Director of Environment & Regeneration agreed to 

provide feedback to the Committee on whether there had been any instances where the 

Planning Enforcement Team (London Borough of Merton) had investigated a development in 

respect of breaching non-permeable surface conditions granted by permitted development 

rights.    

6.9 At the end of the discussion, the Chair thanked the guests for attending and for their answers 

to the Committee’s questions. 

 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 

Environment Committee 

Thursday 30 September 2021 

 

6.10 Resolved:  

(a)  That the report and discussion be noted. 

(b)  That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chairman and party Group Lead Members, to agree any output arising from 

the meeting. 

7 Environment Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

7.2 Resolved: 

That the work programme and meeting dates be noted. 

8 Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for 15 November 2021 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

9.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

10 Close of Meeting 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.49pm. 

 

Chair 

 

Date 

 

Contact Officer: Fiona Bywaters, Committee Services Manager; Telephone: 0207 983 4425;  

Email: fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk 

  

 

 

 

Page 8



 
 

 

 

Appendix 1 

London Assembly Environment Committee – Thursday 30 September 2021 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 - Climate Adaptation and Climate Risks in London 
 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Please can I welcome our first panel of guests here in the Chamber:  we are 

joined by Alex Nickson, Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water; Charlotte Wood, London Area 

Director, Environment Agency; Lilli Matson, Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for 

London (TfL); and welcome back to Peter Daw, Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate 

Change at the Greater London Authority (GLA).  Joining us virtually is Professor Jason Lowe OBE, Head of 

Climate Services at the Met Office.  Welcome to you all and thank you very much for joining us. 

 

My first question is for Charlotte from the Environment Agency.  Charlotte, what impacts from extreme 

weather, particularly flooding and rising temperatures, are foreseen for London based on current predictions 

for the short, medium and long term? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  We are already seeing impacts now and 

they will just continue to increase.  We are seeing more flooding and more extreme weather.  We will see dry 

weather events and more heat. 

 

The main thing that you can see demonstrating this, with the sea level rise, is the number of times we have 

closed the Thames Barrier.  Over the first 17 years we closed the Thames Barrier 24 times and then in the 

following two years we closed it 21 times and 50 times, which indicates the increase in sea level rise that we are 

seeing and also the increase in river flows.  We are seeing already increasing impacts and it will just continue 

over time. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Can I clarify the difference between the intense rainfall and the Thames Barrier?  

They are slightly different topics.  What is the danger from intense rainfall? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  With the intense rainfall, we will see 

more surface water events like those we have seen in July [2021].  I am sure we will come on to some of the 

complications of the roles and responsibilities of who oversees that because the Environment Agency has an 

oversight for surface water flooding.  Yes, the impact will be more surface water flooding from those intense 

rainfall events. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Jumping to our virtual guest, Professor Jason Lowe [OBE] from the Met Office, 

can I ask you the same question?  What impacts from extreme weather, particularly flooding and rising 

temperatures, are foreseen for London based on current predictions in the short, medium and long term? 

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  I can answer that from the 

perspective of the climate hazard that we see.  We have already seen a significant amount of climate change.  

If we look, for instance, at the number of days London experiences over 28°C, it has doubled over the last 30 

years or so.  Sea level was mentioned previously.  Sea level has been going up through the 20th century by 

around 1.5 millimetres per year around the United Kingdom (UK) and over the last couple of decades that has 

gone higher.  It has gone up to around 3 millimetres per year. 

 

Page 9



 

 
 

When we turn to the future, the size of the climate hazard depends on the emissions that we as a global 

community put into the atmosphere and so we need to look at a range of scenarios.  Those scenarios in terms 

of the climate response diverge as we go through the century but, just to put some numbers on that, by the 

middle of the century - and these are specifically for London - we could see a warming in the summer of the 

order of 1.9°C to 4.1°C.  In the summer, we could expect reductions in seasonal average rainfall somewhere 

between about 17% and 47%.  In terms of extremes and the sorts of events we have seen that have caused 

flooding, we expect an event that has a return period today of two years to increase in magnitude by about 

30%.  We also expect increases in sea level rise, with sea level increasing by up to around a metre by the end of 

the century. 

 

In terms of the impacts that go with those, for temperature we can expect impacts on infrastructure including 

energy supply and transport.  We expect impacts on people: mortality is linked to high temperatures but also at 

lower temperatures there is an effect, for instance, on people’s ability to work or take part in leisure activities.  

On flooding, we would expect there to be reduced amounts of water overall over the summer season, and so 

there could be drought conditions, but at the same time, when it does rain, the rainfall could be more intense 

and so we would also have to deal with the surface water flooding.  One thing that often does not come up at 

these events is thinking about the imported impacts.  London is, clearly, connected and there are potential 

impacts on supply chains and food supply from around the world. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  The effects of flooding are clearly really stark, Professor.  Recently, I went on an 

LBC interview and the presenter said to me, “But London has always had flash floods”.  What would you say to 

those cynics or sceptics who say that this is a consistent problem and is not getting worse? 

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  Firstly, there is a lot of variability in 

the weather.  We all see that from day to day.  If we do look at the trend of rainfall anomalies specifically for 

London, at the moment we cannot pick out that trend for London because the variability is likely obscuring the 

trend signal.  If we look on a larger basis over the UK as a whole, then we can see increases in rainfall in the 

period from about 1975 to now that are quite significant in both winter and summer.  Also, our basic physical 

understanding of the atmosphere and the way the climate system works gives us confidence that we do expect 

more of these flooding events in the summer. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Moving to Peter Daw from the GLA, what lessons can be learnt from recent 

extreme weather events in London such as the flash flooding in July and what actions are being taken in 

response? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Thank you, Chair.  It is good to join you today.  Following the incidents on 12 and 25 July 

[2021], the Mayor convened an urgent roundtable with key partners.  That included the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) of Thames Water, the London Fire Brigade (LFB), the London Resilience Partnership, leaders of 

affected boroughs and the Environment Agency as well. 

 

The purpose really was twofold: to explore the incidents themselves and the response to that and ways in 

which it was effective and whether it could be improved, and to think about the longer-term challenges of 

events like this and how we could be more effectively prepared going forward. 

 

The group has now met three times and the principal focus to date has been on the initial response, which has 

been led by the London Resilience Group.  I am sure they would be happy to give you more details on their 

assessment of the response itself, but the sorts of issues that they have flagged for immediate follow-up 

Page 10



 

 
 

include things like streamlining flood communications, making sure that Londoners can reach a single point of 

contact when they experience flooding, and actions to improve partnership response, communications, access 

and sharing of data. 

 

We also have written to the Government to: stress the need for more adequate levels of funding for surface 

water flooding, which is an area that is challenging at the moment to access funding for due to its distributed 

nature; to encourage it to support us in rolling out the Drain London Programme and the Sustainable Urban 

Drainage Systems (SuDS) Programme further from the six boroughs we currently have; and to support the 

development of an early weather detection warning system for Londoners as well. 

 

The group is now transitioning more to think about the longer-term adaptation impacts and how we can be 

more effectively coordinated.  There is a task and finish group, which meets next week for the first time.  It is 

going to be led by the Environment Agency, and so Charlotte [Wood] is co-chairing it with Philip Glanville, 

Mayor of Hackney [and Chair of London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee], and it will be a 

group of relevant partners, stakeholders and politicians meeting to look at how we improve that strategic 

coordination of surface water flooding in London, what needs to be done, how we improve the 

communication, how we help Londoners be more resilient, and how we access greater levels of funding.  The 

terms of reference are being finalised with London Councils at the moment but, as I say, that meeting is next 

week on 8 October [2021].  That is our avenue for looking at how we take those longer-term measures to 

improve things. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  The same question to Lilli: from a TfL point of view, what lessons can be learned 

and what actions are being taken in response? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Looking at those 

flooding events of July, which were really significant and did have a major impact on the transport network, 

there are two levels: the operational learnings and then the more strategic learnings for how we prepare for the 

future. 

 

In terms of operational response, we have done both localised reviews on London transport and on the road 

network, and we are doing a complete pan-organisational review to learn some of those lessons.  If we just 

look at the London Underground and rail side, there were a number of station closures and quite severe 

disruptions to the transport network on both events.  The kinds of lessons we have immediately taken from 

those are perhaps more practical in nature.  Some of our staff were having to clean stations without the best 

personal protective equipment (PPE) that could protect them.  There are some very practical lessons about 

operationally how we manage those but then also more strategically in terms of ensuring, for example, that we 

have the right surveillance of any vulnerable assets that might be susceptible to landslips.  The overall lessons 

are being pulled together and they will feed into our main strategic planning. 

 

Looking forward, if we look at those events, the transport network was impacted quite severely at the time but 

was quite resilient.  It was fully back up and running the next day.  That lesson informs what I want to say 

today, which is that in terms of resilience and operational response, the transport network copes with the kinds 

of events that have been thrown at it to date.  I do acknowledge that we have not seen the kind of shock rain 

that New York or Belgium or Germany saw and for that I feel we are very lucky, but we did cope and were very 

resilient in the July events. 

 

There is further work to do in adapting a 150-year-old transport system to the ongoing changes that we have 

heard about and the fact that this will be increasingly frequent.  That feeds much more into the long-term 

Page 11



 

 
 

planning in terms of modelling our asset resilience and ensuring that we have the right investment to ensure 

that it is truly adapted to the changing climate and not just resilient to ongoing events, which are going to 

happen more and more often. 

 

Finally, we are part of these collaborative groups that are being set up.  We are part of the post-event summits.  

We work very closely with colleagues such as the Environment Agency in the London boroughs.  That will be a 

key part of any response moving forward. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  You identified that the difference between us and what has happened in Europe 

and New York is that we did not have that same intensity of shock rainfall.  How confident are you that if we 

did have that sort of shock rain the transport system would continue to be resilient, or do you think there is 

specific work we need to do for that very sudden rainfall? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  We do need to 

continue to look at our resilience to extreme weather events and we have been doing so.  For example, last 

summer in 2020 there was a tragedy at Stonehaven in Scotland with a landslip and loss of life on that rail 

network.  We immediately reviewed our heavy rain and flooding resilience plan in the wake of that and we have 

done so in the wake of the July flooding here.  We continue to look at our operational response.  Out of the 

last summer event, one of the recommendations is that when any new trains start running the next day they 

run at very low speed, at caution speed, just to ensure that there is nothing left on the tracks.  Some of the 

changes will be quite minor but we are continually trying to learn lessons from how to respond to those events. 

 

Those were very extreme events, particularly in Germany where you saw a very developed country’s assets and 

infrastructure being torn away by climate change.  That is a warning to us all that we need to take this 

seriously and focus minds on it. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  May that warning be heard loud and clear.  If I can move to Alex Nickson from 

Thames Water and the same question finally, what lessons can be learned and what actions are being taken to 

avoid things in the future? 

 

Alex Nickson (Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water):  I would like to start by saying 

that we are very sorry for the impact caused by any failure of our systems that may have had an impact on our 

customers and to express our deepest sympathies to anyone affected by the flooding.  Our initial assessment is 

that our sewers did not fail.  We believe they were overwhelmed by events greater than their capacity to 

manage, but we recognise there may be some distrust in us saying that and we want an open, honest and 

transparent assessment of what happened that Londoners can have faith in.  Therefore, we have commissioned 

an independent review to get to the bottom of what really happened on those days, what the rainfall was, how 

our assets performed and the potential solutions. 

 

We are a long way off. We have had 70 yellow weather warning forecasts this year.  Only two of those have led 

to any big impact.  I am very pleased to say that but, clearly, predicting things like convective storm cells is a 

very difficult thing to do.  If we had stood up an emergency response for every one of those 70, we would be 

exhausted and we would have cried a lot of wolves there.  What we need is a system that is resilient to these 

very extreme events. 

 

I believe that trying to get all of that water underground is not the solution of the future.  We have tried that.  

We have dug bigger and bigger tunnels and getting that intensity of water underground is simply going to get 

incredibly more expensive and incredibly more difficult to deliver.  I believe we need to try to manage that 

Page 12



 

 
 

water on the surface through a varied range of solutions such as green infrastructure, careful flood routing, 

and, importantly, helping Londoners become more resilient themselves with individual property level defences.  

However, we have commissioned this independent review to actually look at international examples around the 

world and what other cities are doing and to learn from the very best because there is a lot out there that we 

can learn from them. 

 

There are clearly things in the interim that we as Thames Water can be doing.  We can be improving our 

incident response, making sure we work better with everyone else who comes to the support of Londoners 

when these things happen, to be creating a smart wastewater network and more telemetry in our system so 

that we are aware when our systems are becoming overwhelmed and potentially are able to use that very large 

drainage system to move water around, and also to work collaboratively with all the partners that need to be 

part of this solution.  I would flag that London’s drainage system is not just Thames Water’s assets.  We are just 

at the bottom of the hill where the water wants to run to.  It is a combination of lost rivers, main rivers, 

ephemeral rivers, the highway agency, local authority drainage, private drains, etc, and everyone needs to work 

collaboratively together to find a long-term solution to this challenge. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You said you are looking at a review.  In my area, there were some areas that 

flooded that had never flooded before, for example, Crouch End.  People do put it down to the lack of 

drainage.  Will you be reviewing and feeding back to each local authority on particular areas?   

 

Alex Nickson (Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water):  I have two responses to that.  

Firstly, we are working with the boroughs to help them with their Section 19 responsibilities.  Under the Flood 

and Water Management Act (2010), local authorities are required to undertake a study into any significant 

flooding, and we are required to support them.  We held a workshop last week to help them with compiling 

that information. 

 

Secondly, as an independent review, we will not be directing them what to do.  They will look at and receive 

evidence from all the different partners and they will undertake what they believe is the right assessment to 

do.  I would strongly encourage them to look at all areas that flooded but it is not something that we as 

Thames Water can direct to. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Given the context that Charlotte was just mentioning, we know that the use of the 

Thames Barrier has massively increased and that is a response to the changing climate, but, that deals with 

fluvial and sea and tide matters. We have also seen these increasing very sharp rainfall events happening as 

well.  It is great that this roundtable has taken place and that you are now talking about collaboration. 

 

Do you think perhaps we should have done this a bit earlier?  I am slightly conscious that we are listening to 

people talking about responses to something that we have seen changing now for the last 20 years.  People 

have been talking about the increasing use of the Thames Barrier for some time.  If you take that as an 

indicator of change, it is not like it just changed in July of this year.  We have the London Resilience Forum 

and the London Resilience Partnership.  I have looked at the risk register and it seems to be, if it happens, it 

will be high impact, but I have we been treating this with the urgency that it needs?  Perhaps then we would 

be further ahead in knowing which one of the weather warnings of the 70 that we have received this year 

might then result in something that we need to respond to. 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  Surface water flooding is something that 

we have known is a massive risk for London for a long time.  In 2007 we experienced some really serious 

flooding and as a result of that Sir Michael Pitt carried out a review [The Pitt Review: Lessons Learned from the 

Page 13



 

 
 

2007 Floods, 2008] of what happened.  This was across the whole of the country but there were impacts in 

London.  One of the recommendations from that was to bring forward the Flood and Water Management Act, 

which came into force and gave us a strategic overview of flooding and identified the boroughs as the Lead 

Local Flood Authorities. 

 

Following that, in 2016, after a review of the risk register in London, there was an Extreme Rainfall Summit 

that took place, which identified a number of recommendations.  More recently, last year one of the Regional 

Flood and Coastal Committee (RFCC) chairs was asked by the Department for Environment, Food & Rural 

Affairs (Defra) to review all the roles and responsibilities, the governance, the funding, etc, around surface 

water flooding.  In 2020, David Jenkins [Chair, Wessex RFCC] carried out that review [Report of a Review of 

the Arrangements for Determining Responsibility for Surface Water and Drainage Assets, 2020].  The 

recommendations that came out of all of those various reviews are very similar to what we have experienced 

now around whose responsibility it is, where the funding is coming from and how we can work together better.  

Operationally, we are clear who should be responsible.  It is just how it works in practice because it is a 

complicated remit. 

 

Hopefully, that explains a little bit of it.  It does not necessarily resolve the issues and move us forward in us 

being able to deal with these really extreme events, but there is clarity over who should be responsible in such 

events.  Does that help explain some of the history of some of the recommendations?  We have looked at it.  

Raising the profile again with the Government is a good thing and making sure that the money and the 

resources are in the right place to move forward some of these recommendations. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That would be particularly helpful because we have discussed flooding here and Alex has 

come in and spoken about flooding more than once over the last five years to the Assembly and moving 

forward on getting that good collaboration because it is a complex picture.  What was really disappointing this 

time was seeing some people on the news saying, “It was not our fault that this happened.  It was somebody 

else’s fault”.  I really do not want to hear anybody from any department in London saying that sort of thing. 

 

I wondered if I could raise one thing with Lilli about the issue of the bounce back and the response.  That 

might have been true of certain parts of the TfL network but it was not completely true of all of the roads, in 

particular Raynes Park and Queenstown Road.  I am going to pick on those two.  These are places where the 

road goes down under a railway bridge.  Quite deep flooding occurred, which was extremely inconvenient for 

pedestrians and cyclists.  A lot of people did not feel that it bounced back quickly because they were still being 

inconvenienced and there are bus routes that certainly run along Queenstown Road. 

 

Is there more that can be done in terms of seeing the network as holistic because, for pedestrians and cyclists, 

flooding is as difficult as it is for train passengers or bus passengers? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  It is really important to recognise the 

impacts on the surface network because the road network is where so many people in London travel, 

particularly pedestrians and cyclists.  I know that dip in the road very well and I can really envision how that 

flooding happened. 

 

When we see a yellow weather warning, we have an operational response plan in place which works on by - 

three, two, one - counting down in days to the event.  As far as possible, what we can do is direct our 

engineers towards any asset faults where we know there are some pumps that are inadequate and then try to 

be as ready as possible.  That does not cover all incidences such as those locations you mentioned.  In many 

Page 14



 

 
 

incidences, we can get pumping to those sites.  On the two events in July that we mentioned, basically the 

conditions overwhelmed what was available. 

 

What we try to do in our operational response is, first of all, prioritise human safety - if there is any risk that we 

think people will be at risk of going into those locations, we prioritise protecting them from that, whether it is 

closing off the area or whatever is required - and protecting public transport services and people walking and 

cycling.  There is a clear hierarchy in terms of how our operational response targets those efforts. 

 

It does not mean that all problems go away and, back to your previous point, clearly, there has been a lot of 

work underway over many years.  In preparing for this briefing, I have been looking back and just realising how 

long people have been looking at this issue.  It does not mean that these incidents do not happen.  What we 

are trying to do is improve our operational response to it.  Part of that post-incident review I mentioned is 

exactly to look at the road network and see what more we could do. 

 

One of the actions we are doing is not directly related to the situation you referred to but there were a lot of 

stranded vehicles and, as the water receded, those became a safety hazard because people reopen the roads.  

We are working with the LFB, for example, to work on a protocol of how to retrieve stranded vehicles and how 

to get people safely from stranded vehicles. 

 

It is perhaps frustrating that we are not perfect in our knowledge and exactly where we need to be, but there is 

a learning process going on.  Certainly, those locations will be recognised as problem points now and for the 

future. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Thank you.  I would imagine, Chair, that we would probably be happy to receive a copy 

of your post-incident review when that is ready and I know the same with your independent review, Alex 

[Nickson].  That would be very helpful for us going forward. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  To reassure you, the work has not just started today or over the summer.  It has been in play for a 

long time.  I look over to Alex, whom I used to work with many years ago, ploughing a very lonely furrow as the 

Climate Adaptation Manager at the time, trying to get people interested in a topic which felt very far away at 

that time.  People are now beginning to realise the impacts of it. 

 

I wanted to illustrate some ways in which we have practically been working.  We have the Thames Estuary 2100 

Plan, which the Environment Agency leads.  We are actively involved with that and a number of other 

stakeholders.  We have helped secure and make sure that land is available for a new Thames Barrier when it is 

needed going forward and that plan is constantly under review.  It is under review at the moment.  In terms of 

SuDS, we have produced a surface water flood risk map for London, which shows you, firstly, where the risks 

are from surface water flooding and where the opportunities are for SuDS.  I mentioned already the SuDS pilot, 

which we have worked with six London boroughs on to demonstrate the impact that those small interventions 

can have in terms of helping support the drainage system that Alex referred to. 

 

Also, the London Plan has in play very strong policies on adaptation and flooding and overheating.  For 

example, the current Plan is reducing water runoff into systems by about 87% on new developments.  There 

are a number of things already underway and we will no doubt get on to more of those quite soon. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We are coming on to the Mayor strategies and initiatives shortly.  

Assembly Member Bokhari. 

Page 15



 

 
 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  I am coming from the perspective of residents, Alex.  I am sure you are aware that there 

has been great talk about communication and working better with boroughs and councils but there is a tension 

still - I would like you to be honest about this - between Thames Water and councils and how the 

communication works. 

 

Would you say that, with the fact that there have been problems in London for 20 years now, Thames Water 

did have a responsibility, particularly with things like culverts, which have not been looked at?  There are some 

culverts that have been neglected for some decades.  Where does the council and the Thames Water 

relationship work there?  What has gone wrong with the communication?  With 20 years for a culvert not to be 

looked at, how come the council did not refer that to you?  Why did not it come back to Thames Water?  Is the 

onus on residents to do this?  A lot of residents find it so frustrating when they keep on hearing it is Thames 

Water that is supposed to be doing it and the council is not responding to it. 

 

Alex Nickson (Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water):  That is a good question.  First 

of all, there are a number of factors in this.  Number one: not necessarily every asset has a clear ownership as 

to who actually owns and has responsibility for it.  There are large numbers of drainage networks in London 

where the drainage system passes through a number of different ownerships and not all of them are agreed. 

 

There are also areas where we have assets that are maintained according to a risk matrix that we have.  We 

look at the actual likelihood of them causing a probability of an event.  Perhaps we need to go back and look 

at that.  Also, we have 110,000 kilometres of sewers.  That is two and a half times around the circumference of 

the world.  We have to identify which of those are the highest priority.  There may be assets that we have not 

prioritised in the past because, when we have run that risk modelling, they have not shown to have had a major 

impact.  Then, when you experience these kinds of extreme events, then they really do show that there is an 

impact that we were not previously aware of. 

 

This is something that we are working increasingly well with the boroughs to determine.  Part of what local 

authorities have produced in their local flood risk management strategies is a list of all flood risk management 

assets.  We will be collaborating, and are collaborating, with them to produce that list and to ensure that then 

drives that clarity of ownership, maintenance and risk so that we can arrive at a much more concerted position. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Before I start my questions, I wanted to ask Thames Water if they 

could send us the terms of reference for the independent review, please.   

 

My question is for each of the panellists but perhaps starting with Peter.  How is the London Environment 

Strategy so far making a positive impact on enabling London to adapt to the extreme weather impacts of 

climate change we are now seeing? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  I started to touch on a few of these areas already, but there are a number of things we have we 

have put in place since the London Environment Strategy was published. 

 

I mentioned the London Strategic SuDS Pilot, which is a pilot with six London boroughs, Camden, Enfield, 

Hillingdon, Kingston, Southwark and Westminster.  What that project is doing is showcasing the importance of 

local distributed systems, which typically are difficult to fund through routes of funding like through the 

RFCCs.  Typically, they are looking for some quite big impact projects and it is hard to demonstrate that with 

relatively small interventions of about £20,000 to £50,000 of investment.  We have worked with those 

Page 16



 

 
 

boroughs to look at the impact and where we could locate those interventions and what the impact would be 

in terms of benefits. 

 

To give you an example, in the work to date we have identified that £20 million of investment brings about 

£280 million of benefits in terms of flood protection and also natural capital benefits.  That has been important 

in terms of not only helping boroughs, highways agencies and other authorities to understand the opportunity 

more, but also unlocking £1 million of funding from the RFCC specifically to fund those sorts of interventions.  

We want to see that rolled out across the rest of London and so that is why we have written to the Secretary of 

State for the Environment looking for support to allow us to do that across the whole of London to help unlock 

more of those interventions. 

 

We have invested directly through the Mayor’s own programmes.  There are clear connections between surface 

water drainage, biodiversity and greening.  We have talked about this a few times: the Grow Back Greener 

Programme, for example, has invested about £1.8 million directly into surface water flooding projects and 

about £13 million into greening projects in total, which have benefits for adaptation too.  We have introduced 

heat alerts, which we have had to use five times since we introduced them.  That gives guidance to Londoners 

which gets triggered in line with Public Health England guidance and includes alerts on some major public 

places.. 

 

Last year we launched climate vulnerability risk maps.  Again, with our limited resources we are thinking about 

where we can make the biggest impact.  We have assessed the climate vulnerability and environmental impact 

of things like heat risk, flooding, access to green space and air quality and we have also mapped that against 

social vulnerabilities like age of population, unemployment, deprivation, etc, so that we can really identify 

where in London we should be investing our efforts.  That map is now helping us to target our interventions in 

the second term.  The Future Neighbourhoods Programme, our Resilient Spaces Fund and our Grow Back 

Greener Programme are now being targeted more in those areas.  We are asking boroughs and others to 

demonstrate how they fit with that approach. 

 

We have produced six separate SuDS guidance publications across schools, social housing, hospitals, parks, 

green spaces, commercial buildings, offices and retail, which are helping to make the case and showing how 

these interventions can be made in practice. 

 

I mentioned the London Plan already, which is bringing in very robust planning policies around overheating 

and around flood management.  For example, we are asking in developments that they think about how they 

manage out overheating in the design of a building.  The Crystal, the new City Hall, is a very good example of 

that.  The building, the orientation and the façade are all thinking about where the sun is in the day and trying 

to keep out that solar gain.  Also, it is a glass building, but the opacity of the glass is different depending on 

where you are.  There is a range of ways in which you can manage this through the planning system. 

 

We are also working through our retrofit programmes to make sure that homes are properly ventilated and to 

deal with overheating as well.  I have mentioned the Thames Estuary 2100 work.  We have also produced a 

road surface runoff map for the outer London borough areas to understand those challenges with 

contaminated water entering rivers and where they are.  Again, we can map that with our SuDS interventions. 

 

In the second term we have just announced, with the support of Thames Water, an extended Grow Back 

Greener Programme.  That is £1.8 million of interventions around adaptation plus £4 million multi-year 

programme - Green and Resilient Spaces Fund, which is closing today.  We are hoping to get some very good 

applications.  That is funding slightly bigger interventions around urban greening but also contributing to 

Page 17



 

 
 

improving adaptation with around about £250,000 to £750,000 worth of investment.  I also mentioned the 

Future Neighbourhoods Programme, which is a £7.5 million programme supporting the boroughs to showcase 

how they can connect up a number of environmental issues from the circular economy, air quality, greening, 

adaptation and energy in a local area, whilst engaging their local communities with a view to developing 

models that can become best practice and exemplars and are showcases for other boroughs.  I will stop there. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  TfL? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  To come at it 

from the point of view of a functional body and think about the importance of these strategies for 

organisations like TfL, I would say they are very important.  The London Environment Strategy and the Mayor’s 

Transport Strategy really shape the context in which the organisation thinks and directs its efforts.  Having 

been very closely involved in the strategy and direction of the organisation as we have taken forward those 

plans, I would say, it has a big impact..  It means that the organisation thinks about these things. 

 

What that translates to across both the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and the London Environment Strategy is 

absolutely a focus on seeking to reduce our carbon emissions overall with a very clear commitment to a zero-

carbon railway by 2030 and to modal shift towards more sustainable modes.  At the heart of that is the whole 

Healthy Streets approach that we set out within the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, which is integral to a resilient 

and adapted future in terms of ensuring our streets have shade and ensuring that the way that people travel on 

those streets is not worsening the climate crisis. 

 

Then within that, particularly looking at the subject of this inquiry around adaptation and resilience, those 

Strategies give us a reason to report to our panels and to report to our boards in terms of how we are doing 

and holding ourselves to account.  We have had regular reports to our Safety and Sustainability Panel on our 

adaptation readiness and we will indeed be bringing a further report this winter.  Being required to hold that 

mirror to ourselves enables us to identify where we do have further work to do and in terms of understanding 

fully our risks.  We have adaptation to climate change as our number one strategic risk alongside major events.  

Without the strategic framework of the London Environment Strategy and the Mayor’s Transport Strategy we 

would not have so much leverage to focus attention on this. 

 

If you think back to the case we are currently making to the Government around our need for future funding 

and the Financial Sustainability Plan, it is based on the direction of a decarbonised transport network by 2030 

and one that is resilient and adapted to climate change.  I would say these threads run through all of the work 

and direction that we are taking now as an organisation. 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  I suppose Peter [Daw] has covered off a 

huge number of initiatives which we are heavily involved in as well and so I will not repeat any of those.  Just 

to echo Lilli’s comments, the London Plan and the Environment Strategy have incredibly strong environmental 

policies to help London adapt and be resilient to climate change. 

 

I suppose the big thing for me is to see that that actually happens in practice on the ground, especially given 

an increasing population and more development.  Are we seeing those policies play out?  We will not know 

that for quite a long time to come but these initiatives that we are working on will help that. 

 

One of the things that Peter did not mention, that we are also working on, with the Thames Estuary 2100 plan 

looking at the future flood risk around the Thames Estuary, is the riverside strategies approach.  A lot of the 

flood walls will need to be heightened over time.  How does London as a city interact with the river and how 

Page 18



 

 
 

do we maintain that adaptation from the flood risk that is going to come from the river?  The City of London 

has published the first consultation on the riverside strategies, and we are seeing some others coming forward. 

We are working closely with everybody around the table to make sure that those consider far into the future.  I 

am looking at the Tower of London there and taking into account those really historic parts of the city as well. 

 

Lilli [Matson] touched on future funding as another really big thing.  Funding is really stretched for all of us 

and so one of the things that I am doing is I am also a London Sustainable Development Commissioner. I sit on 

the green finance subgroup to look at new funding initiatives.  We cannot just rely on the Government to fund 

a lot of these schemes going forward.  What are the other ways that we can do that?  I will finish there because 

Peter covered most of the things I would say. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  You were very complimentary about the GLA and TfL strategies 

overall but is there anything that needs to be improved?  There is lots to do and the United Nations Climate 

Change Conference (COP26) is in a month’s time.   

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  We were.  Part of that is because we do 

work in close partnership.  I have had staff spending most of their time sitting with both Lilli’s and Peter’s 

officers to write the policies that we would want to see and, at the time of them being written, they were more 

progressive than some of the Government policies and so I would say they are very strong.  The issue is seeing 

it playing out on the ground. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  Thames Water, please? 

 

Alex Nickson (Wastewater Systems Strategy Manager, Thames Water):  It is always difficult when you 

are the last in the line there.  I also probably have to declare an interest.  As a former employee of the GLA, I 

had quite a hand in writing earlier versions of the Environment Strategy and so I might be inadvertently 

criticising myself and I might need to play the Fifth Amendment. 

 

As Charlotte said, we have worked closely with the GLA to help shape and influence those policies.  I have sat 

across a number of similar scrutiny sessions, sometimes agreeing with Peter, sometimes pushing for more, but 

the combined weight of mayoral strategies is pushing in the right direction.  Events like this are things that we 

had not necessarily planned for.  One of the things I am hoping that the independent review will come out with 

is to say what is the right level of resilience that we should be planning for because London’s drainage system 

is pretty old now. It would be in a museum if it was in America but it is something that we rely on here every 

day. 

 

We need to be looking at that next generation of drainage that we need.  Does it all need to be subterranean?  

We need to understand the level of protection that is acceptable to Londoners and how we best deliver that.  

Is Thames Water the only partner in doing it or is it a composite of all the local authorities, other emergency 

responders, developers, etc, to do it?  That perhaps has to be the next focus.  My anticipation is that the 

independent review will point us in that direction and perhaps raise a national-level discussion about what is an 

acceptable level of resilience and how we achieve it.  If we say we move to a one-in-50-year level of resilience 

- Copenhagen is aiming for a one-in-100-year resilience plus an allowance for climate change - that is a 

fundamental change in the makeup of your city and the attitude of its citizens.  For me, the challenge is how 

big we want to think and how urgently we need to deliver it. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  My next question is to Peter.  It is probably the most 

important question, in my opinion.  Ultimately, who is responsible? Is it the boroughs?  Is it Thames Water?  Is 

Page 19



 

 
 

it the Environment Agency?  How much of the power to adapt London to extreme weather is within the 

Mayor’s control and how would that change with new powers for the Mayor?  Do you believe the Mayor 

should ultimately be responsible rather than those bodies? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  That is a good question.  It is a complicated and complex ecosystem.  We are spending a lot of 

time on flooding today, for example. 

 

It is probably just worth setting out very quickly what the Mayor’s role in this is.  The Mayor is required to 

produce a London Environment Strategy, which has policies and proposals related to climate adaptation in the 

capital.  What the Mayor does not have or what he is not is a strategic flood authority.  That is the 

Environment Agency’s responsibility.  He is not a highways agency with responsibility for drainage across the 

networks.  He is not responsible for the drainage network.  That is Thames Water.  The London boroughs are 

the Lead Local Flood Authorities.  There is a range of complexities there. 

 

If we take the other issues around adaptation, the other challenges really facing London are potentially around 

drought.  Again, the responsibility is with Thames Water and we do not have a formal responsibility there.  

Equally, there is no authority with responsibility for overheating risk in London or in fact anywhere. 

 

The answer to your question is that certainly in the short term that is not going to change.  We are not 

going -- 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Are you asking for new powers? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  No.  What we need is more effective coordination across all of the authorities involved.  The 

recent surface water flooding incident is a great example.  What is clear is there is a need for a more integrated, 

effective plan for London.  The lead flood authorities are required to cooperate, but can that be strengthened?  

Does that really take account of the whole of London?  There is a whole number of stakeholders involved in 

that who will continue to have a role. 

 

It is not quite as easy as giving the Mayor the responsibility because the levers for this do not and will not sit 

with the Mayor going forward.  That coordination is important and driving a collective approach to setting out 

the challenge and how we solve it and making that case for greater funding are the other key things, as well as 

continuing to develop that evidence base, which we have worked hard with others including the boroughs to 

do.  It is by driving that evidence base that we make the case for greater interventions here and we unlock 

more money.  The focus must be on that rather than chasing powers, which would require very significant 

changes to Government legislation.  Where we have the power, we are intervening with the Transport Strategy 

and the London Plan.  Where we do not have the power, we see our role very much as convening, collaborating 

and working with others to support delivery. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Do you think you should be communicating - or rather the Mayor 

should be communicating - more of the earlier, very impressive list of all the things you talked about, like the 

SuDS pilot?  People like us vaguely know about it; Londoners do not know.  When you go on the Tube, it 

would be a good opportunity to have a poster saying all the things that you are doing.  Do you think the 

Mayor could do more in terms of the communication side at least? 

 

Page 20



 

 
 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Certainly, there is more to be done around awareness raising of Londoners and London’s 

businesses, not just of what we are doing but a number of really good and impactful things which are 

happening.  It is challenging getting that message across and that is certainly an area we are looking at 

through the new group set up to look at adaptation going forward with the Environment Agency and the 

boroughs.  Absolutely, an important thing is how we effectively get the message out there that this is 

important, that Londoners need to take action too and that these are the things we are doing to make London 

more resilient, yes, absolutely. 

 

Emma Best AM:  Peter has done a good job of answering most of my questions and, with an eye on time, I 

will try to be concise.  Peter, I just wanted to know if you have been able to be involved with the London Plan 

at all, with planning officers, and how closely you have a say in that? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  We review all strategic plans that come to the Mayor and we will make assessments of the 

development against the policies of the Plan.  That is not just adaptation.  That is energy and climate change.  

That is greening.  A whole range of policies are assessed.  We would we feed that into planning colleagues.  

Where there are issues, we will be raising them and then working with planning colleagues to make sure those 

are raised through the planning process. 

 

I gave the good example earlier of where that planning policy is really starting to bite and have an impact, 

essentially reducing the runoff from new development into the hard infrastructure we have.  About 87% of 

water now is not draining off into those systems through new development.  That is a really good example.  We 

are putting together a checklist now so that we can get better data back on the performance of the Plan in the 

development phase. 

 

Emma Best AM:  What concerns, if any, do you have around urban warming and tall buildings being built in 

close proximity? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Do you mean in terms of urban heat island effects? 

 

Emma Best AM:  Yes. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  That is clearly an issue and we have a number of things in play already.  The Cool Spaces 

Programme is helping.  It does not solve the challenge, but it helps Londoners if they are out on hot days to 

find areas of respite, both indoors and outside. 

 

In terms of new development, that is factored in.  We are looking at how a new development can reduce its 

contribution to the overheating of the city.  We are about to commission some work to look at the potential 

for a Cool Roofs Programme as well.  We are looking at the evidence for doing that, where other cities have 

taken action, how that could work and what the costs would be.  That is certainly on our minds. 

 

The buses are a really good example of a very practical action of something that can be done to help with 

overheating, simply painting the roofs of the buses a different colour to reflect the heat.  There is a range of 

things underway to help with that. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Emma Best AM:  Peter, those are the right words.  Hopefully it is put into practice more this term.  Thank 

you. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  An estimated 25% of Londoners do not have flood insurance.  I wondered, is there 

anything that the GLA can do to address this in terms of the Mayor’s strategies and initiatives?  We often talk 

about adverts being placed on the Tube, is there any kind of awareness raising campaign that the GLA could 

undertake?  It is devastating being flooded in any case in your home, but it would make quite a significant 

difference for people’s recovery from the flood if they did have insurance. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  That is a really good point.  It links to Assembly Member Devenish’s point.  It is something we 

need to look at and explore around the resilience of people and property.  Again, it is in the play of the group 

we are starting next week.  Yes, there is something there, I am sure, around how we get that message across 

about the importance of this.  It is a growing risk to Londoners.  We will certainly factor that in. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  We have a panel later where we are talking to people from local authorities and it is 

pretty much the same question for them, but maybe it is something, Chair, we could write to the Mayor to see 

in what way the GLA could help with getting that message out there because it does make a significant 

difference to people.   

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you.  On that same question, Charlotte, there is an interesting report from 

JBA Trust, which is a retrospective look at London surface water flash floods.  It talks about 

Assembly Member Cooper’s point of insurance, particularly for people living in basements, for instance, where 

often high-value goods are kept. 

 

How do you balance that alongside the needs and costs of warnings and things like that?  How can we make 

sure that Londoners are protected? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  That is a really good point.  I was just 

going to add to the point before that we do run a flood awareness campaign each year.  We do that nationally.  

Recently we have been doing it in London with the GLA.  It escapes my mind but it was two years ago we did a 

focus on surface water flooding.  Maybe your point about insurance is a good one and we could think about 

how we could talk specifically about insurance.  

 

We must be realistic about the population of London.  I have mentioned this before on some of the 

roundtables.  It is a transient population.  It is difficult to raise awareness.  We see it across the country but 

London as a national city is even harder.  When English is not the first language, we need to find different 

ways of sharing that message and making it something that people need to understand and need to take 

action on.  Some of our national messages do not apply to surface water flooding, like  have a ‘grab bag’ and 

those kind of things, but raising up your important belongings is also something that is relevant regardless of 

where you are or what kind of flooding comes in. 

 

That was on the previous point.  Sorry, your second point, it was around protecting people? 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Yes, it was particularly this balance between the cost of warnings and making 

sure that we are adapting for Londoners. 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  Something that we are doing is we are 

releasing new flood maps.  The quality of our flood maps and who is at risk is constantly being updated.  The 

next version will have better information around surface water risk. 

 

Warning and forecasting for surface water flooding  is complicated and so it is something that we are working 

closely on with the Met Office in our flood forecasting centre.  Also, there are lots of private organisations that 

are looking at that as well and creating a competitive market on it.  It is a tricky thing to give that prior warning 

and then for people to take action. 

 

There are some initiatives coming forward like the cell broadcasting, which is where a message gets forced to 

your phone.  You can do that within a postcode area.  How will that work in London?  How do you not scare 

people?  Mass panic and things like that are issues that we need to work through.  There is also the point that 

Alex made about standing people up too often so that they will not listen in the future.  How do you target 

specific locations and know that an impact will happen and therefore they will take action?  It is a big issue.  

Yes, it is balancing all of those things and making sure that we target in the right places. 

 

Planning is also a big issue.  Peter touched on the implementation of the planning policies in the London Plan.  

We have recently published, and regularly publish, planning applications that have gone against our 

recommendations.  We are a statutory consultee and there are quite a few in London that go against our flood 

advice.  That still happens.  We try to get into understanding why those decisions have been taken against our 

advice.  It is something that I know I have asked my team to pick up with Peter’s team to make sure that we 

talk with the local authorities and really understand why those decisions have been taken. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you.  I am really pleased to hear that point about the maps.  I spoke to 

the Mayor about this at our last [Mayor’s] Question Time and he responded positively.  Previously the maps 

have not necessarily said what the flood risk is, whether it is surface water, whether it is tidal or whether it is 

fluvial.  It is really good for people to know their specific risk.  Also, this report talks about the fact that 

sometimes these maps do not indicate where there has been basement flooding, for instance.  That has not 

been tracked on a risk map or where there has been previous flooding and so it is good to hear you will look at 

that. 

 

I want to turn to our scientist Professor Lowe from the Met Office to finish this section off because forecasting 

is hard.  We have these warnings and very often they are quite broad warnings, but London needs local specific 

warnings.  How do you measure that and how do you adapt to that? 

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  There are really two timescales here 

we probably want to talk through.  One of them is thinking about the climate information.  We have moved to 

a much more detailed spatial model.  Now we use the type of model that previously was used for weather 

forecasting with a grid scale of a couple of kilometres.  We can use that for climate.  Our climate projections 

are coming down to a much finer scale than they did before and there is further research on detailed modelling 

for London. 

 

When it comes to the nearer-term warnings, we have seen improvements over the last three decades in the 

accuracy of the high-resolution forecasts and that will continue with techniques, for instance, around 

nowcasting.  The key is then translating that information.  For instance, we heard earlier discussion of the 

yellow warnings.  Those very much are probability-based warnings and that means they can show, for instance, 

a high likelihood of a low-impact event or a low likelihood of what could happen in terms of a high-impact 

event. 

Page 23



 

 
 

 

Getting the understanding of what that means locally is really helped by two things.  It is helped by the 

network of civil contingency advisers.  For instance, one of those works with the London Resilience Forum to 

translate the message.  Once a weather warning is triggered, there is a much more intense dialogue and 

techniques like the hazard mapping portal.  There is also the relationship with the Environment Agency.  We 

work very closely through the Flood Forecasting Centre to provide as localised information as is credible from 

the projections. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My questions are for TfL. On the concentrations of heavy rainfall we have had 

recently, is there anything else that you want to see in the Mayor’s strategies and plans to deal with that heavy 

rainfall and increased risk of flooding? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Thank you for 

raising that because it relates directly to the subject we were just talking about.  It is not so much that we need 

new things in terms of strategies but quite often the data, the modelling or the very information that we were 

just hearing about is often in formats that are very difficult for transport planners or designers to easily 

translate into very localised design solutions.  We have been talking a lot about surface water flooding because 

it is very top of mind, but it is very granular and very localised in nature.  For us to have enough granular 

information and data and to know exactly what the risk is to this Tube station or this railway line, if I am 

honest, although we are all talking we do not readily have that information available in its most up-to-date 

format ie containing absolutely everything we need to know about the most up-to-date climate projections. 

 

For me, the priority is more about better data, ensuring that we can lucidly and easily understand what the Met 

Office is saying and understand what it means in terms of us being able to design a response to that 

effectively.  We have talked a lot about collaboration and all of us need to go at that with some urgency and 

real commitment to making things happen now on the ground.  We have that now on the back of the July 

events, but after the Mayor’s Transport Strategy we set up the Transport Adaptation Steering Group, which we 

chair, and it includes all of these representatives and the boroughs.  It is a very good forum but it should 

become a real nexus for actually saying, “We commit to doing this kind of change”. 

 

Then, ultimately, I cannot get away without talking about funding.  We really need to make not only the kind 

of emergency but this part of the climate emergency, adapting and being a resilient city, a city where 

8.5 million people live, an absolute priority for funding from the Government.  We are doing all we can to 

translate to net zero and we will get there as best we can with the funding we have available but, if we have 

not adapted to the changes that have already happened, we will still not be a liveable city.  We need to raise 

the profile of this in terms of its priority for funding. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can I take up that point about the data.  You wanted it more granular and localised 

to a particular Tube station.  Does that data actually exist?  Is it available?  Who holds the data?  We heard 

from Professor Lowe at the Met Office that there is someone in the Resilience Forum whose job is to translate 

that information that the Met Office is giving, but who should hold that? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  The issue is that 

it does not exist at the Tube level, but we have our own flood risk models and we need to inform them as best 

we can with the latest information on heightened flood risk coming from what the Environment Agency or the 

Met Office understands about climate projections.  What we are finding difficulty in is translating what some of 

Page 24



 

 
 

those latest projections and modelling of that means to our localised models.  That would be a practical 

example of where we could better join up and have that information flow. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.   

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  If I could respond to that, we are 

talking about risk there and bringing together the hazard information on weather with local vulnerability 

information and the exposure information, for instance, on a local Tube station.  For the very high-resolution 

climate data, we have the United Kingdom Climate Projections (UKCP) set with more than 5,000 users picking 

that up and it is available in a number of formats.  We are always very keen to hear from users as to how we 

could make that more accessible.  I am aware there is now a piece of work going on specifically with TfL to 

provide an additional format for that data so that it is easier to import it into geographic information systems 

(GIS). 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  That is helpful.  One of the things that the two flooding events this year showed us 

was that there are some sites that are particularly vulnerable.  If I take in my constituency Turnpike Lane, for 

example, it is one of those stations where we had pictures of water rushing in at a tremendous rate.  What can 

you do in terms of preventative measures once you know there are specific sites that are particularly 

vulnerable?  Are you working on plans for such sites? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, I referred to 

a few things.  One is our heavy rain and flood resilience plan, which tells us how to prepare and react in the 

moment, but we also have a London Underground comprehensive risk framework for flooding as well, which is 

exactly looking at the vulnerability of different assets across the network.  We do know which stations and 

which parts of the network are more vulnerable than others.  That then would include several responses to 

understand the level of that risk, to understand if that is a whole asset risk like an embankment, for example, 

or more to do with localised risk around a station.  That will feed into different actions.  Do we need to 

reinforce a structure or an embankment, for example?  What are the tactical local responses needed in a 

station, for example?  A few stations have floodgates but at others where we know that it might be an ongoing 

risk there will be a programme where we know we can go and direct our emergency response unit with extra 

pumps and flood boards and other ways to help protect it.  A lot of that knowledge is held and we know where 

we are vulnerable.  Because we do this three-two-one operational response model I talked about, we can try to 

direct, as much as possible, people to be ready in advance. 

 

One of the real dangers and one we are very alert to after the July flooding is back to that granular 

understanding.  It could be already at Turnpike Lane Station and then a rogue event could happen somewhere 

else.  What we are vulnerable to are the changes to the surrounding environment.  There is the continued 

paving over of London and that is changing the local hydrology.  You can have surface water changes in terms 

of flooding in a way that you might not have three or five years ago.  It is about how we stay on top of those 

events.  That is very flashy, if you like, in terms of the flooding and it is very difficult to pre-empt.  In that 

respect, it is all about making sure all of our staff know what to do in terms of those responses. 

 

We also use our London Underground control centre and the network management control centre, which have 

real-time visibility of the entire transport network to be able to respond in the moment and send the 

emergency response unit to those locations if something should happen. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Page 25



 

 
 

Hina Bokhari AM:  My question is also for Lilli, for TfL.  My specific area is surface water flooding on the road 

network that I would like to ask you about and all the properties alongside it but specifically also about the 

drains and the gullies along the Red Routes.  What is the plan there, how are you reviewing it and what are the 

timescales? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  It is very 

important that we keep the strategic routes safe and moving for all users.  In the run-up to an event that 

would be indicated as a yellow weather warning, we would ensure that gullies are cleared.  We can deploy in 

advance gully suckers and other things to try to, as far as possible, ensure that we are ready to fix faults.  Both 

the events that we are talking about were between one-in-30-year or one-in-60-year events.  They were 

overwhelmed by the level of water -- 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Are you not doing this regularly anyway? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, we are, but 

what I am saying is that when you get a very high-intensity rainfall event like that, the drainage system is 

overwhelmed and so you are getting surface water literally running on the surface.  We recognise that and it is 

how we respond to that safely rather than in terms of whether we are closing roads or diverting traffic away 

from it.   

 

There are two things in a way.  One is, as our colleague from Thames Water mentioned, the assets are 

incredibly complicated and what is under London streets.  There is a risk assessment going on of the surface 

road network to basically inspect and try to understand fully what the asset risks are, but also it is about 

looking ahead and trying to see where we need to improve or enhance drainage. 

 

What I was also saying is there is an acceptance or a recognition that in the moment of some of those extreme 

events, even with good drainage, even with pump stations working at capacity, the level of water that flowed 

did overwhelm it.  You would never be able to plan for the level of -- 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  What you are saying is that despite the strategy that you have for clearing drains and 

gullies, the drainage system is still not good enough to deal with the situation? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  No, by and large 

it is good enough.  What we have seen with these extreme events is that we get very intense issues happening, 

which is why Thames Water, for example, was talking about its drainage system being overwhelmed. 

 

What we can do, and what at the strategic level we are working towards, is the whole SuDS approach.  That is 

about not relying on just endpoint drainage but trying to make London more of a sponge city.  We play a part 

in that through our own tree planting along our network and we are working hard to achieve the targets that 

we have for that -- 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Do you have a timescale, as I asked before? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  For what in 

particular? 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  For achievable targets to make sure that there are systems in place to help with the 

drainage, for example. 

Page 26



 

 
 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  We have clear 

plans to ensure that the network is safe.  I guess what I am trying to explain is that, with the level of crisis that 

we are facing, I could never guarantee you hand on heart that there would not be flooding on a certain part of 

the road network.  Thames Water could not do that, and neither could the Environment Agency.  What we 

need to do is ensure that as far as possible we are working collaboratively to improve the drainage overall of 

London. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Is there a plan perhaps then to do something that is proactive?  You are responsible for 

paving.  Could that be made more porous?  Are you looking into tree planting along the Red Routes?  What 

are you doing that is actually going to help this situation? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  On all of those, 

yes, we do have targets and we are moving forward.  In terms of tree planting, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy 

set a target to increase the overall tree coverage by 1% a year and we are on track with that.  Even though last 

year it was hard to get out and about, the levels of trees were planted. 

 

In terms of that SuDS I mentioned, there is a target again within the Transport Strategy to increase that by 

50,000 square metres a year in capacity and, again, we are working with the boroughs and others to work 

towards that.  In all of those elements, as well as ensuring our asset resilience, which is back to your original 

point, in our current discussions with the Government and in the Financial Sustainability Plan what we have 

prioritised above all else is asset resilience to make sure that we have the money and the funding to keep 

London safe.  That is the road network as well as the rest of the public transport network.  That is based on an 

uplift in spend on our assets and that will include the drainage because that is the basic level that is needed. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Would you also look into cycle routes as well using porous materials and is that happening 

at the moment? 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Yes, we would.  

In terms of porous paving, we are trialling that and we have looked at that.  On some of the main carriageways 

and the most heavily trafficked roads, it has not proved that durable.  On cycle routes, as you said, where there 

is less weight from the vehicles, there is potential for using.  It is very much one of the mixes that our asset 

engineers are looking at and trying to use as much as possible alongside the green infrastructure, which has a 

key role to play. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to Peter.  How is the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan 

progressing and what impact is it having now on water surface water flooding? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Can I just have one point before I answer that one? 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Yes, of course you can. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Colleagues here at City Hall in the London Infrastructure Group are also doing some really good 

work with utility companies in their works on roads where they need to dig up parts of London.  In essence, as 

part of that planning consent and planning that work, they are working to identify where they can implement 

local SuDS or permeable pavements, for example, as part of that programme.  There is some really interesting 

Page 27



 

 
 

work going on with Cadent up in Enfield, which they are looking to roll out much more effectively with other 

utility providers.  That is just an example.  Some of the answers to this are opportunistic.  We can plan for 

certain things and some of the bigger opportunities but there will be opportunistic ways to turn London into 

more of a sponge, to use Lilli’s turn of phrase. 

 

In terms of the Sustainable Drainage Action Plan, there is the London Sustainable Drainage Action Plan 

progress report, which covers 2017 to 2021, on the website.  One of the key elements of that which I would 

highlight first is the publication of the SuDS opportunity map for London.  That is showcasing where we see 

the potential locations for SuDS interventions across the whole of Greater London.  We have, as I mentioned a 

couple of times already, funded a number of interventions through the Grow Back Greener Programme, which 

is ongoing this year and is increasingly being targeted in areas which are most vulnerable.  We have updated 

the London Plan and so there is now a drainage hierarchy and a much stronger stance on impermeable 

surfacing.  We have introduced a SuDS planning pro forma so that we are able to gather the information much 

more effectively on what the planning system is actually delivering.  We have published a series of sector-

based guidance so there are six of those in total and we work with our networks across the National Health 

Service (NHS) and education and business to get that out and promoted and with the London boroughs. 

 

We have also been working to train highways officers.  Part of this is not just about educating Londoners but is 

also about educating highways engineers and others who work in this industry who would not naturally think in 

this way because they have never really had to.  We have trained 300 highways officers to date and that work 

continues as well. 

 

Then finally, I will just mention the London infrastructure planning work, which again is really important, and 

using that reinstatement of planned road closures to introduce new SuDS measures, too. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  The creation of SuDS is to provide an alternative to drains and sewers.  Many of the 

proposed schemes are fairly low cost.  Section 106 [of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990] agreements 

are there to compensate for the impact of housing and development.  Do you think that the creation of SuDS 

should be part of the routine planning conditions for most of these developments and a planning condition 

through funding by Section 106 agreements? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Certainly, we push that through strategic developments.  That is a really interesting question.  

Yes, I see it as a really good opportunity for the boroughs then in terms of their own plans and implementation 

to certainly think about that. 

 

I would just stress though with SuDS that there is no magic bullet to any of this stuff.  For the very extreme 

events we have been talking about, SuDS intervention will not deal with one-in-200-year extreme events. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  There are cases probably coming up and there are planning applications coming through 

where there should be more consideration of the old Victorian pipes that are being used and the need for them 

to be replaced, would you say, rather than using SuDS? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Again, one of the things we have worked very hard on and put a lot of pressure on Thames Water 

and the Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat) for is to improve London’s ageing network,.  We have 

worked to make sure that Londoners do not just pay the bill for that.  There is a £300 million offer via Ofwat to 

Page 28



 

 
 

improve London’s assets and that has recently been matched by Thames Water’s stakeholders.  It is something 

the Mayor has pushed very hard for over the last two years. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  I am just raising this because there might be a concern that there is a cheap alternative 

here using SuDS rather than replacing old Victorian pipes that need to be replaced. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Yes, that has to happen, too.  SuDS will play a role, but it is not, as I say, the silver bullet. 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  Funding for surface water flooding 

solutions is a complicated one because, as you say, they are quite small schemes in very specific locations.  At 

the moment, to bring forward a flood scheme through the RFCC, you have to bring in a certain amount of 

partnership funding and you have to show that it is cost beneficial to bring forward the scheme.  That was 

always created on the basis of big schemes that would protect lots of people or infrastructure.  For the 

schemes that we are seeing now, it is definitely harder to bring forward those schemes, to do the modelling, to 

prove that it is going to work. 

 

The RFCC - there are loads of them around the country but the one that is important here is the Thames - 

because of the size of London and the amount of levy that it brings in through the boroughs, has quite a big 

pot of money to play with and has been incredibly innovative in the solutions that it has been looking at and 

this is one of them.  It has been looking at these strategic SuDS pilots and at a catchment level and saying, 

“How can we fund X, Y and Z to bring forward benefits, not only for flood risk but for multiple benefits, for 

biodiversity, for health, for social, etc?”  They are doing that now to put forward a package to say to the 

Government, “This is how we need to look in the future”. 

 

Part of that is that the big schemes have been done because they are easier and because you can model them.  

The money is going to come and you can find the partnership funding from others to bring forward the 

scheme.  Now the harder stuff is in play.  The RFCC is also looking at natural flood management, like planting 

up trees higher in the catchment to absorb the water.  I suppose the sponge analogy is about slowing the flow 

and trying to prevent it entering the sewerage system at all. 

 

I hope that explains it a little bit better.  We are aware it does not work for these smaller schemes and we are 

working closely with that Committee, which is independent of all of us and represents everybody here, to find 

a solution and put that to the Government. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  I am aware that we are well over time and so, Peter, could I ask you to write to 

the Committee about hospitals?  I am aware that Newham and Whipps Cross [Hospitals] were both affected 

and so it would be great if you could write to the Committee about SuDS and hospitals and the plan around 

that.  Can I just remind everyone to be brief and succinct, just so we can get through the business?  

Assembly Member Best. 

 

Emma Best AM:  Charlotte, how is the Environment Agency working with the Mayor and boroughs to support 

their efforts to halt climate change? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  We have heard here today that we 

cannot halt climate change.  It is already here, and we all need to work to adapt and create a resilient city.  We 

Page 29



 

 
 

have spoken a lot about how we are working together.  That is not necessarily the issue, but a sharper focus on 

some of those collaborative approaches and partnership working is what we need to move forward on now and 

to try and find those real solutions to some of the problems.  As Peter said, I will be co-chairing this task and 

finish group.  The important thing is to not duplicate what other existing groups are doing and to be clear who 

is taking forward what and how we can find solutions that are going to make a difference. 

 

Emma Best AM:  Thank you.  Would you be able to comment in some more detail about that round table 

event with London Councils, the Mayor and the Environment Agency that happened after the flash flooding 

recently? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  Yes, we were all present at that.  It was 

a good event to look at the moment in time.  At first it was very operationally focused: what did we all do?  

Should we have done more?  Could we have worked together better?  There were absolutely some immediate 

lessons that we all could have learned from.  One that jumps to mind is there was a suggestion to have had a 

partnership call earlier on and bring together all of our partners to talk about the fact that we knew 

thunderstorms were coming.  Also, to share the fact that thunderstorms are really tricky to know exactly where 

that water will fall, because you do not know where the thunderstorm will happen, but you know that it will 

happen over a certain area, so having those conversations. 

 

We proactively worked with the boroughs and Thames Water, talking to them about the fact that this weather 

system was coming and that now is the time to get out and clear drains and trash screens, which is what we did 

for the main rivers.  We took that forward.  We had a meeting a week later and then two weeks after that, so 

we kept the momentum going in moving from the immediate to, “Right, what next?”  It became apparent that 

the reviews I mentioned previously had taken place and, “Let us quickly look back at the recommendations 

from those”, specifically the summit that happened in 2016 around London and, “Are there immediate things 

that we can do that we have not done together?”  They have helped with the momentum and bringing us 

together to be as collaborative as we can.  The next phase will be looking further to the future.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Thanks.  One question on that, I was really interested when you were talking about how we 

know thunderstorms are coming, for example, and better communicating when this is happening.  Were there 

any key outcomes from that?  That is one element where there is a poor breakdown and linkup between 

councils and Thames Water of taking preventative actions before we end up with reactive measures? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  Yes.  Thunderstorms are very tricky for 

that specific location.  We spend a lot of time with the Met Office to work out the best way to communicate 

that information, the risk and the potential impact and explain that.  We get out and clear those gullies and 

streams for the main rivers, because obviously the impact can be pretty significant if we do not do that.  We 

work really closely with the boroughs and Thames Water.  The issue for us is around resources because there 

are so many boroughs in London, and making sure that that communication happens with every single one of 

them.  Out of hours as well, making sure that there is a single point of contact, 24/7, 365 days a year.  We 

have an instant management system that allows us to ensure that we have somebody on duty all that time to 

be able to explain what we are seeing and what action they could take. 

 

All of this is set out in the multiagency flood plan that the London Resilience Forum wrote a while ago.  It has 

been reviewed recently and we are constantly inputting.  All of the actions, the trigger points, the multiple 

issues that go on are set out in that document.   

 

Page 30



 

 
 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I want to pick up, Charlotte, if I can, about something you said about other 

waterways. Obviously poorly maintained waterways can have an impact as well.  I am not just talking about 

major rivers, but, for example in my constituency, the Pymmes Brook and Salmons Brook have caused flooding 

to properties before.  Are our waterways sufficiently maintained at the moment?  What does the Environment 

Agency do about working with local boroughs to identify where existing waterways could be a potential flood 

risk?  Then what remedial action can be taken?  Is it just a question of funding? 

 

Charlotte Wood (London Area Director, Environment Agency):  That is a really good question, because, 

as Alex pointed out, being clear who is responsible for what is essential.  When you get into the main river and 

then the tributaries, ensuring that we are clear who is responsible for that maintenance on those systems is 

incredibly important.  Just as others have said, all of the rivers are mapped.  We are clear where the pinch 

points are in those rivers.  We will regularly go out and check the rivers.  There is a clear maintenance 

programme.  We have as much money as we are given from Government to go and do that and so do the 

boroughs.  We talk to them regularly.  Where we know that we have particular hot spots or pinch points, we 

will work with them to ensure that they are cleared.  If we know that a particular weather system is coming in 

and we know that those particular areas are difficult, we will assist the boroughs to help with that localised 

issue where we can. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  I would like to come to Professor Lowe.  Thank you very much for joining via the 

internet.  In this section we wanted to ask some questions about rising temperatures and heatwaves that you 

thought you might be able to help us with.  If you could describe how London experiences the urban heat 

island effect currently and what more can be done to alleviate the impact of the urban heat island effect on 

London, particularly going forward? 

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  Firstly, just thinking about 

temperature more generally, how we project temperature in our climate models, they include a representation 

of the urban area.  They build in the urban heat island to the high-resolution climate projections.  The numbers 

I talked about in the start, in terms of warming for London, for instance, between 1.9°C and 4.1°C by the 

2050s, that factors in the urban heat island in the first instance.  We can also look to see how high temperature 

events from the past might change in the future. The type of summer we had in 2018, that in present day 

climate you would expect to have probably, in any given year, between about 10% and 25% of the time.  By 

the middle of the century, you would expect that probability to rise to 50%.  On average, every other year 

could be like 2018.  The urban heat island, we have seen trends in the difference between the urban area and 

the surrounding rural area that have been changing over time.  It is especially noticeable in the night-time 

minimum temperatures.  In terms of the magnitude of the urban heat island effect, if you look at the average 

over the city as a whole, then it is typically of the order of 1.5°C up to 3°C, but there will be times when there 

are parts of the city that are even warmer.  You may have seen heat maps where this goes up to 7°C or 8°C, 

but the average is a bit lower.   

 

The future trend, extracted from our regional model, is that during the day we are not expecting to see a big 

increase in the urban heat component.  During the night we could see a trend of the order of 0.05°C per 

decade.  Just to comment, that is already in the projections.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That is a huge difference for people who are living in London.  I am particularly struck 

because I have seen a lot of buildings going up that -- in continental Europe and the United States, where they 

do have higher heats, because there is the continental landmass, and the same in the States, a lot of people 

Page 31



 

 
 

avoid the use of air conditioning, which has its own impacts of energy use, by having very good external 

shuttering, which is also helpful for cold in the winter, but also shading.  We seem to have moved away from 

that.  I am quite concerned that some of the buildings that have been going up do not have adequate 

protection to the levels of heat that we have now due to the urban heat island, but you seem to be saying it 

could be even worse.  If it gets much worse at night, particularly, then the ambient temperature during the 

day, in some of those flats, particularly if they have large windows, could have serious impacts. 

 

Professor Jason Lowe OBE (Head of Climate Services, Met Office):  Yes.  Just to be clear, in terms of 

peak temperatures, they will still occur during the day, but I was referring to the change in the urban heat 

island particularly manifesting at night.  We do expect to see the changes in the daytime temperature.  In terms 

of adaptations, there are a range of things that could be done.  Some of them are behavioural, so making sure 

people do see the warnings and know what to do when there is a heat health warning.  So, staying hydrated 

and seeking out cool spaces, for instance.  In terms of more engineering-type solutions, there is a raft of 

measures.  Some of those involve shading.  Some of them involve changes to building design to improve 

ventilation.  Some of them involve things we have already talked about for flooding, like green roofs that 

provide a sponge effect and allow for latent heat cooling at night.  Creating more green spaces in cities is 

something that has been studied in a number of cases. 

 

There are also some very useful examples that one can find from cities around the world that are already 

applying some of the measures to deal with high temperatures.  Projects like the C40 Cities Network have a 

climate hub that does so and the Climate-ADAPT Programme.  It is possible to compare the effectiveness of 

these different measures now that information is out there. 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  Clearly there are a number of cities around the world where temperatures are much, 

much higher than London, so learning the lessons through the C40 Cooler Cities Group and those sorts of 

things is very helpful. 

 

Peter, what further steps can the Mayor take to reduce the impact of heatwaves on London’s citizens, 

businesses and services?  He is very involved in the C40 Cities Group.  Perhaps there are some messages that 

he and some of the team have been able to bring back from that that would be useful to us now. 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  Professor Lowe has helpfully covered a number of things that we are already working on.  I would 

emphasise again the London Plan is really important here for new builds.  We are encouraging developers, as 

part of our London Plan and new developments, to include robust overheating modelling, so against extreme 

weather scenarios.  The London Plan has a cooling hierarchy, which is to ensure that overheating risk is 

managed.  That hierarchy is trying to focus first and foremost on managing our heating risk, as I mentioned 

earlier, in the design of buildings, rather than relying on mechanical solutions, such as air conditioning, which 

can add to the problem.   

 

The professor talked about shading.  That is really important as part of that work.  We are pushing that quite 

hard through the London Plan as well.  We have looked at particular vulnerable groups.  To mention a couple, 

one is education early years settings where we have produced a simple guidance for education authorities to 

implement measures in their schools and settings to help them adapt to warmer temperatures.  We also 

undertook some work around care homes.  I am sure you will appreciate that the risk of high temperatures is 

far greater to elderly people.  That is work we did with University College London, Oxford Brookes University 

and with Public Health England, looking at simple measures that could be taken.  We undertook that in five 

care homes and made recommendations on what they could do.  We produced a checklist to help with making 

Page 32



 

 
 

care homes better prepared.  The Care Quality Commission has now committed to including that assessment of 

risk of overheating in their own inspection assessments of care homes as well and using that simple checklist. 

 

I have mentioned already the Cool Spaces Programme.  While it does not solve the problem, it is helping with 

respite for Londoners when they are out and about.  We have 313 outdoor spaces and 43 indoor spaces so far.  

We are continuing to work with faith groups, boroughs and others to identify and grow that network.  Also, 

tied to the Zero Carbon Challenge, we have a lot of buildings that we need to retrofit in London, both 

commercial and homes.  An important part of that is thinking about ventilation and not just making buildings 

airtight.  Part of our approach to the Warmer Homes initiative is also thinking about how we make effective 

interventions to make those buildings cooler.  We also have underway things like tree planting and other 

efforts through green roofs to cool the city as well.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  When the London Environment Strategy was first drafted and agreed in May 2018, 

subsequent to that the Assembly declared a Climate Emergency in December 2018.  The London Plan had 

largely been written at that point.  The Examination in Public then took place in early 2019.  A lot of proposals 

were put forward, particularly by me, Caroline Russell [AM] and Nicky Gavron [former Assembly Member].  We 

spent a lot of time saying additional areas around this should be considered. 

 

With the change from the Mayor saying Zero Carbon by 2050 to saying Zero Carbon by 2030, have you been 

looking again at the London Plan and the Environment Strategy in terms of what we need to do, not just in 

terms of flooding or in terms of energy use, but also in terms of addressing the heating situation in the city and 

overheating, particularly? 

 

Peter Daw (Assistant Director, Environment and Energy & Head of Climate Change, Greater London 

Authority):  There is work underway around the London Plan to address overheating.  Longer-term thinking 

never seems to end right with the London Plan about what might be needed going forward.  I expect that we 

will feed in, as part of that review, the growing challenges that we are facing.  The Green New Deal Mission is a 

good example of where we are practically, then taking forward more measures which are trying to bring 

together a range of different things from creating economic opportunity and jobs through to making London 

better prepared for the recovery from the impact of the pandemic and better prepared to cope with climate.  A 

number of the initiatives I have already mentioned have been borne out of that.  There is an evolving 

programme of work.   

 

I mentioned earlier, one of the areas we are currently looking at is around cool roofs initiatives as well.  Is there 

more we could do effectively to make London’s roofs reflective to reduce the urban heat island effect?  There 

is a constant programme of work underway to respond to needs we have.  Lilli might want to talk about some 

of the things that TfL is doing to mitigate heat on the transport network as well.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  That would be interesting.  Following on from what Hina [Bokhari AM] was talking 

about, it would certainly be interesting to hear that TfL is not going to keep putting in impermeable road 

surfaces without having some mitigation in terms of adding in additional trees and shrubs.  I am still seeing 

road schemes going in that look like that.  All the recent street space included lots of floating bus stops, but 

not enough shrubs, in my view.  There still seems to be a lot of ability to change London, but without really 

starting to address this -- because we know that it reflects the heat away.  If you leave the surface there then 

it can also absorb the floods that we were talking about earlier, but it does also cool.  Having people boiling at 

bus stops is not really something that we want to see. 

 

Page 33



 

 
 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  In terms of the 

general approach to dealing with heat, it is clearly something that is really important to our customers.  We get 

a lot of feedback on that already.  When we look at reports looking at what that might mean in terms of 

climate change and the impacts on the Tube, we can see that there are going to be more and more days where 

it is going to be uncomfortably hot.  If I start with the Tube and then move on to the road network, there has 

been quite a lot of work which has already been done and put in place from the softer end of behavioural 

measures, where we have a clear hot weather plan.  That involves advising customers about the need to carry 

water, advising them about heat, and encouraging those who may be concerned about it to be aware.   

 

We have also put in place physical improvements, with more fresh air vents into the Victoria line and the 

Northern Line.  In addition, 40% of Tube trains now have air conditioning: the Circle line, District line, 

Metropolitan line and Hammersmith and City line.  All the new Elizabeth line trains will have air conditioning.  

This is a modern network.  It is trying to adapt.  Clearly that is going to take time, in terms of the whole 

network being hotter climate ready.  The connection then between the surface road network is really 

important.  If we can reduce above-air temperatures, we can also help passengers who might be underground.  

I am worried about your feedback on these schemes.  A lot of the new schemes under the Healthy Streets 

approach do include greening and climate mitigation measures.  The Old Street scheme that is going in, for 

example, not so much the greening side, but has a lot of flood attenuation built into it.   

 

If you have specific local examples, I always welcome feedback on that and will take it back to the designers.  

We are seeking to build our tree cover on the main road network because we have a target to increase that tree 

cover.  I love trees, so I would absolutely like to see this roll forward.  It is very much part of our policy to 

increase tree cover as part of street design.  It may be that they were some of the more rapid street space 

schemes that came in quickly over the pandemic period.  Many of them are now being made permanent, so 

there is an opportunity there to look at that.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  I know why you have not been able to put trees in.  It is because the Northern line 

extension heading south to Morden essentially follows the A24.  Just as I know some of Thames Water’s assets 

are very close to the pipework that had to be fixed that goes over where the District line runs at Southfields.  

Sometimes there is more than one thing going on.  However, we have very good examples close to here of 

some very large containers with trees around the more London Estate.  At one point people were talking about 

the Balham Boulevard and they wanted trees planted down the middle of the road.  Unfortunately, that would 

then impede the Northern line from running just underneath those trees, unless you can think of a way to get 

Tube trains to run through roots.  

 

Perhaps that is something we can take offline because I am sure the Chair is keen to move on because we are 

running a bit late. 

 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  I would like to.  

We need to continue to challenge ourselves and see what more we can do on that.  That feedback is really 

welcome.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  I did mention shrubs as well.  Shrubs as well as trees are really important for that reason. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  That concludes part one.  Thank you very much to our guests for joining us.  

Thank you to our virtual guest, Professor Lowe.   

 

Page 34



 

 
 

Lilli Matson (Chief Safety, Health and Environment Officer, Transport for London):  Chair, I should 

have mentioned at the beginning, but I did not really have time to introduce myself.  I wanted to make clear I 

am a member of the Environment Agency Board, but all my comments today were from my role as Chief 

Officer for TfL.  I wanted to make sure that that was noted.   

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Noted and you are, of course, free to leave the Chamber.  Thank you very much. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 

 
 

Appendix 2 

London Assembly Environment Committee – Thursday 30 September 2021 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 - Climate Adaptation and Climate Risks in London 
 
 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Joining us virtually is Councillor Johnny Thalassites, Lead Member for Planning, 

Place and Environment, Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.  We are joined by Chris Lee, Director of 

Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton, and Patricia Cuervo, Senior Flood and Water 

Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and also Co-Chair (Planning Lead) of the London Drainage 

Engineers Group (LoDEG).  Thank you very much and welcome all.   

 

If I could dive straight into it with [Councillor] Johnny Thalassites in Kensington and Chelsea. Thinking about 

recent extreme weather events affecting London, such as those in July 2021, what has been the impact on 

London boroughs? 

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning , Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  First of all, thank you for inviting us today.  This is an extremely important 

issue for us all to tackle.  In Kensington and Chelsea, the impact of recent extreme weather events has been 

enormous.  If I just run through some of the figures that we have from our borough alone, I know that lots of 

other parts of the city were similarly affected. We know that over 200 residents have had to be accommodated 

in local hotels and provided with food and clothing while steps were taken to assess the extent of the damage.  

Three schools had to close due to flooding, at a time when we know that education has been extremely 

disrupted over the last 18 months.  I know at least one large block of flats in my ward, Alison Court in Holland 

Park, where residents were trapped and unable to leave the court for almost a day as water flooded the car 

park area.   

 

We know that vulnerable residents had to be evacuated from a Care Leavers Hostel and placed in temporary 

accommodation.  Several council buildings running essential services, from day centres to youth centres and 

libraries, also were severely damaged over the course of the last couple of months.  Just moving quickly on, we 

know that the cost of the response ran into the tens of thousands.  It was over £50,000.  We currently have 

eight council tenants still in temporary accommodation and work is progressing on repairs to properties.  That 

is a quick run through of some of the tangible impacts.  We know that there is also a mental health impact 

from flooding too, whether you have been affected in terms of having to leave your home for a period or 

whether your work has been impacted.  I have spent time with residents in my ward, but also across Notting 

Hill and North Kensington, talking to them about how much it has affected them.  It is important to register 

that that is a less-seen effect of flooding that we all need to be mindful of and make sure that we offer 

support for going forward. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you, Johnny, and thank you again for joining us.  I have a map from the 

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea from 2007 of properties flooded.  Do you know if there is an 

intention for the borough to reproduce a map from this year? 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair (Planning Lead) of the London Drainage Engineers Group):  Yes, the borough would 

produce a Section 19 investigation.  We will be mapping the flooding event.  We have a rough idea of the most 

affected areas.  We will produce something by the end of this year or early next year.  We are waiting for the 

outcome of the Thames Water Independent Review 

 

Page 37



 

 
 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Could I also ask you, what is your borough learning from recent extreme weather 

events, such as the flash flooding in July?  How are you adapting in preparation for future potential 

occurrences? 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair (Planning Lead) of the London Drainage Engineers Group):   One of the key 

messages discussed in Panel 1 was that we need to improve our response, working together with other 

boroughs and other response authorities.  We also need to understand our different roles and responsibilities 

as Lead Local Flood Authorities and contingency planning authorities.  We need to have a clear understanding 

of our roles and how we communicate with each other.  In terms of surface water particularly, there are quite a 

few key points that we need to focus on.  We need to understand our assets and the assets of others.  We 

need to understand their maintenance, their state of repair and their capacity.  We also need accurate 

modelling of surface water and its interaction with other types of flood risk, because water does not 

understand boundaries.   

 

We need to know how surface water is interacting with groundwater flooding.  The July event happened when 

there was tidal lock, when the tide was high, which had quite bad consequences.  We need also proper 

forecasting and warning system for residents.  We need a change of legislation and also a change of British 

Standards.  As a local planning authority, new developments need to be resilient to climate change.  However, 

water companies will need to plan infrastructure to be resilient to climate change.  That is something that 

needs to change at a much higher level.  It is something that [The Rt Hon] Boris [Johnson MP, Prime Minister] 

can change.  We also need to warn residents.  We need to make everyone aware that they are vulnerable to 

flooding and what they can do to protect themselves.  

 

As Lead Local Flood Authorities, we also need to be properly funded.  The Government has announced 

£5.2 billion funding on flood-risk projects, not just surface water, but flood risk projects in general.  The way of 

Lead Local Flood Authorities accessing this funding is heavily diminished because we do not have enough 

resources to be able to put projects forward and to implement those projects.  We really need to think outside 

the box, and we need to think in a holistic way and stop saying surface water only, it is flood risk in general 

and all the agencies need to work together for that. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you very much, Patricia.  Moving to Chris now, the same question but 

with a Merton perspective, what is your borough learning from recent occurrences and how are you adapting 

to avoid these in future? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  Thank you and 

thank you for inviting me.  Thankfully the events in Merton were less impactful than those I have just heard 

about from Kensington and Chelsea.  That is not to say that there is not a problem.  Despite all of our flood 

risk assessments and our flood management plans Merton still suffered very significantly during the events in 

July 2021.  What we are learning from that, and our partners Thames Water are learning from that, is the need 

for investment in an aging infrastructure and in an infrastructure owned by Thames Water that requires 

probably more regular annual maintenance and a planned maintenance programme.  Unless that infrastructure 

is working at the capacity for which it was designed and operating fit for purpose these problems will recur. 

 

As the previous respondent said, there needs to be that holistic approach and working across the agencies with 

the local authority to ensure that all the assets, whether they are owned by Merton or whether they are owned 

by Thames Water, are operating satisfactorily to ensure that these events reduce in terms of frequency.  We are 

seeing, however, that the abnormal is becoming the normal.  Even with the sort of programme that is required 

Page 38



 

 
 

to ensure that the water flows satisfactorily through the system, in the longer term there is going to have to be 

more significant capital investment in order to ensure the system is fit for purpose.   

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Back as far as 2007 councils were warning and worried about what was happening in that 

particular borough with flash flooding.  Why is it still taking so long to have some sort of actionable approach 

to dealing with flooding proactively rather than reactively? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  There is not a 

single bullet to resolve this problem.  It would be unfair to say that there has not been action.  Since we took 

the Lead Local Flood Authority responsibilities at the start of the last decade we have fulfilled our 

responsibilities to the letter in terms of establishing that assessment of the areas that suffer from flood risk and 

preparing and publishing detailed plans where we take action in order to minimise that flood risk.  That is an 

evolving and developing picture.  We need and do take account of recent flood events in order to inform that 

picture and to adapt and change our activity.  However, our activity is just one part of that bigger picture.  We 

feed our information into Thames Water and other agencies to ensure that they can take the requisite action.   

 

A lot of our work is done in terms of trying to mitigate the problem, trying to prevent the problem occurring 

through our activity in cleaning gullies.  We have around 17,500 gullies in Merton.  We have regular 

programmes to clear those and the higher risk ones, to clean at a more regular frequency in order to ensure 

that they do not contribute to the problem that we are facing.  We work very closely now with Thames Water 

in order to ensure that the problems we identify in their systems can be taken into account and that Thames 

Water can take the appropriate action.  That needs to continue.   

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  You mentioned the gullies and the drains, which is a particular area of interest.  I want to 

know how the communication between the council and the residents is ensuring that there is sufficient 

clearage.  For example, do you notify the residents when you are going to be clearing the drains so there is 

adequate space for that clearage to happen, because, for example, cars could be parked on those roads?  How 

successful has that been?  Do you think there could be some improvements? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  Firstly, we have 

a programme which identifies the high-risk gullies across the borough.  Around 10,000 of that 17,500 are 

high-risk.  Some of those are in town centres, some are in the areas which suffer more intense flooding during 

the high rainfall.  We have that programme of clearing those gullies.  We also have a facility where residents 

can inform us of gullies that are blocked.  We have a 72-hour response and a dedicated webpage for those to 

be reported and for us to respond and clear those gullies.  You are right, there are problems where there are 

parked vehicles in our streets.  Merton is a very heavily parked borough.  Where we suffer from that, where we 

have vehicles parked over gullies, it is often extremely difficult to have those removed.  

 

That is going to be a challenge for the future and one we are looking at whereby we could seek residents to 

voluntarily remove their vehicles from one side of the road or the other, so that we can get that more intense 

clearance of the gullies and the road in order to ensure that they are dealt with on a regular basis.  That is 

going to continue to be a problem in terms of vehicle parking.  With the number of roads and streets that we 

have and the number of vehicles, getting a Traffic Management Order (TMO) - which we do in some instances, 

in order to lift vehicles and remove them, so that we can clean the gullies properly.  I am sure we can improve 

the communications with residents in order to seek their cooperation.  That will be a constant challenge.  We 

do have instances where residents simply do not remove their vehicle despite our requests and the cost and 

burden on the council taxpayer in order to get vehicles lifted or have the gully clearance vehicle return on a 

number of occasions is significant.  

Page 39



 

 
 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Can I suggest that the communication then between residents, councillors and officers 

could be improved, not just in Merton but in every council when it comes to these situations? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  I am sure there 

are areas that we can work on to help that, yes. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  I am going to leave it there because I know we are running out of time. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  My question is to Chris and then to Johnny.  How is the London 

Environment Strategy making a positive impact in enabling your borough to adapt to the extreme weather? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  Merton has a 

Climate Change Plan.  That Climate Change Plan, alongside our Local Plan, our planning policies, is doing 

everything we can, responding to the Environment Strategy in order to ensure that our policies and our actions 

are consistent with it and that we are adapting and seeking to mitigate the impact of climate change.  That 

plays right into our planning policies around future development and the way that we are seeking, particularly 

in relation to flood and water management, to mitigate the impact of the increased weather events that we are 

seeing in the borough by shifting from grey to green, by having more water attenuation, by seeking to mitigate 

the impact of new development and existing development on Merton and London.   

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  You will know about a lot of the work that we have been doing to adapt to 

extreme weather in our borough of Kensington and Chelsea.  We do use the London Environment Strategy to 

inform our evidence-based documents, our Local Plan and things like the Greening Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) that we adopted last year.  We are currently reviewing our Local Plan and intend to use the 

Strategy to develop robust approaches to extreme weather and all associated issues.  We require Sustainable 

Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) for all new developments as well, for major and minor developments.   

 

We have also had £500,000 of funding from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee to implement SuDS in 

one housing estate in the borough.  We know there is a lot more work to do and we certainly intend to work 

closely with the Environment Strategy and with the Assembly to produce the right response to the flooding we 

have had.   

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you very much.  My second question, and maybe Johnny 

could start first this time, there are some initiatives including the link to the Mayor’s Environment Strategy 

around data collection and mapping. How is the data collection, mapping and monitoring having a material 

impact in enabling your borough to practically adapt to the impact of climate change? 

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  Data and mapping are both very important.  We talked about it a bit earlier in 

relation to assets in the borough, which is a key component.  We do collect data and more on flood risk in 

evidence-based documents, for example, in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, the surface water 

management plans that we have and also in forming our local planning policies and the Local Flood Risk 

Management Strategy and Action Plan.  There is a lot of work happening.  This data also helps us with flood-

risk projects on the ground, specifically the selection of the best possible locations for things like the 

implementation of SuDS.   

 

Page 40



 

 
 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  To add to that, 

the supply of new information and that accretion of data is absolutely essential to us being able to respond to 

this.  One good example that we have in Merton is that we have already installed over 60 internet of things 

devices into our high-risk gullies and we are investing in more of those.  Those provide us with  

real-time information about the level of silt and the impact on that gully flowing.  Over time that will help to 

build that richer picture, alongside all of the data that we are collecting around flood events, Section 19 

investigations and information from other partners to add to the already rich supply of data and mapping that 

we have, so that we can adapt and shift our resources in order to ensure that flooding becomes less of a risk in 

the future. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Deputy Chairman):  Thank you.  I will leave it there, Chair. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  Assembly Member Bokhari. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  What is being done to improve the proportion of permeable surface in your borough for 

new and existing developments and spaces?   

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  I mentioned 

earlier that our planning policies are developing and adapting to seek to ensure that we have more mitigation 

of flooding.  One good example of that is asking developers to build rain gardens into their development.  We 

are also putting that into some of our infrastructure.  There is one that is just about complete now in SW19, 

around High Path.  In new developments on private land our policies seek to ensure that developers provide 

attenuation, that they are providing appropriate water storage, including rain gardens, green roofs and so on.  

Our planning policies are just at the stage of being reviewed by the Planning Inspectorate and they will further 

strengthen that in terms of the requirements to provide that sort of provision.   

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Patricia, what is being done to improve the proportion of permeable surfaces in your 

borough?  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  We have a specific policy 

on SuDS.  We went one step further than the London Plan, so instead of just requiring a very big reduction of 

surface water on the main development, we also require a 50% reduction on small development, which is what 

we get quite a lot in inner London boroughs.  For any rear extension, side expansion or basement 

development, we would require the whole of the runoff from the site to be reduced by 50%.  That is one of 

the policies that we introduced in 2019 and I can assure you that we are getting quite a lot of developments 

with new SuDS.  

 

The other thing that we have is a policy on new permeable surfaces for all landscape areas because planning 

policy or permitted development rights allow for rear gardens to be paved over without any need for planning 

permission.  It is not considered a development, paving over the rear gardens.  Front gardens are protected in a 

way, but not rear gardens, and so we introduced a new policy on protecting all landscape areas or open areas 

within sites.  That is for new development that is happening. 

 

However, we definitely need to do more - not just us in Kensington but everyone everywhere in London or any 

big city - to repave existing development and existing areas when we are doing other works as local authorities, 

highways and so on, in our own buildings, and to encourage other people to introduce permeable surfaces and 

more green infrastructure.  

Page 41



 

 
 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  What do both the councils do when there is a breach of planning guidance?  In 2008, it 

was very clearly made out that if you were to pave over your front gardens, that would be a breach.  Is there 

any way that you are publicising this kind of guidance and providing information for people?  They are paving 

over their front gardens to allow, for example, having electric cars to be charged.  What kind of action are you 

taking against these kinds of issues that are popping up now in front gardens? 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group): For the front gardens, you 

can pave over 5 square metres, but if you pave more than 5 square metres you will need to direct the surface 

runoff into green areas or you need to use permeable paving.  Then you will find you have permitted 

development rights for that.  What do we do to publicise that?  We have it on our planning webpage, on our 

SuDS webpage, and on our Greening SPD.  We included a small section on that to make sure the residents 

know what they can do.  I also think that is on the householders’ guide in the Greening SPD.   

 

In terms of how we ensure that any breaches are looked at, we have a Planning Enforcement Team.  They work 

proactively by looking at if development has been implemented according to the conditions of the planning 

permission granted.  We also get residents calling us and saying, “We do not think that this development is 

being implemented according to the plans and according to the permission”, so we go out and check. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Is there any enforcement in Merton? 

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  The situation is 

almost identical in terms of the statutory position and the permitted development rights, and where there are 

breaches, they are reported or can be reported to Planning Enforcement.  I am not aware of instances where 

planning enforcement has had to take action in order to reverse the position and to take the development out, 

but I am happy to investigate that. 

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  I would like to hear from you on that, yes.  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton): The point is well 

made that sustainable drainage is absolutely essential if we are going to mitigate the flooding risk that we face, 

and we do need to keep an eye on where non-permeable surfaces that are not consistent with permitted 

development rights are being installed.   

 

Hina Bokhari AM:  Thank you very much.  

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Assembly Member Sheikh.  

 

Sakina Sheikh AM:  Building on some of what we have been talking about, especially regarding planning 

enforcement, it was a very interesting conversation because on our previous panel we had someone from the 

Environment Agency who did say that there are applications that pass that do not adhere to the advice or the 

recommendations of the Environment Agency.   

 

It is good to hear from both you, Chris, and you also came in, Patricia and Johnny, on planning enforcement 

and ensuring that we do have applications that comply not only with the London Plan but with the advice of 

the Environment Agency, ensuring that we do minimise the risks.  Part of it also is perhaps we have not really 

Page 42



 

 
 

seen the serious flooding that has more recently come onto our streets, so perhaps culturally we are still 

catching up.  Here is hoping we continue improving.  

 

I just wanted to build again on what we have been talking about regarding surface water flooding risks.  I 

wanted to ask all of you what you think needs to be done in London so that we have fully adapted to surface 

water flooding risks caused by climate change.  What support?  What mechanisms?  If there are far-reaching 

visions and action plans, it would be really good to hear from you about what they are.   

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  It is a really good question and I agree with a lot of the comments you made.  

Largely, I would refer to some of the points we have been making over the course of this morning and this 

early afternoon, particularly about understanding our existing asset ownership, maintenance and repair 

capacity; making sure we have accurate modelling of surface water and its interaction with other types of flood 

risks, including sewer flooding, fluvial flooding and tidal-locking groundwater; a proper forecasting and 

warning system; and legislative change where necessary so that climate change is not only accounted for in a 

new development but also in the water industry and by all Risk Management Authorities (RMAs). 

 

We also need to do an educational piece, making sure that people understand the risks that are associated with 

extreme weather like flooding in our city.  We need properly funded Lead Local Flood Authorities and RMAs 

who can access Government funds.  We also need to think outside the box, I would suggest, to understand and 

to try to mitigate what will happen soon when these events do become more frequent.  Those are all points 

that reflect what might be done, particularly in London but also nationally.   

 

Then, locally, there are the things we have been talking about in terms of the Local Plan, some of the resilience 

work that we are doing in policy and enforcement terms, and also continuous work with the partners.  A 

joined-up approach is extremely important in making sure that, for example, Thames Water is playing its part, 

ensuring that major projects like Counters Creek in our part of London and the Thames Tideway, which are 

associated with water and related impacts, are taken forward in a timely way and in a way that is value for 

money for citizens of the city.  Those are all things that we can help make happen so that flooding and surface 

water risk is reduced.  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  To add to that, 

first, raising awareness generally across London for existing landowners to think about how they could adapt 

their property, even if it is not subject to development, and how they could return grey surfaces to green to 

assist with the challenge that we all face.  General awareness-raising would help, so that the problem be better 

understood and enable people to see how they can deal with it.   

 

The second point is, I suppose, around materials research, because that may deliver some opportunities to 

tackle the problem in new and innovative ways.  Because so much of our city is covered with hard surfaces, the 

replacement of some of those hard surfaces in a way that uses new materials could assist.  Then the point 

around funding cannot be underplayed in terms of the Lead Local Flood Authority’s available resources to 

work with other agencies and developers to ensure that we can develop the city in a way that does not add to 

the problem but hopefully reduces that problem over time.  

 

Sakina Sheikh AM: It is good throughout this meeting that planning has been at the absolute core, that 

adaptation and mitigation in terms of our strategies going forward.  On the idea of thinking outside of the box 

there is cultural change we also need to see across the UK in terms of bringing people on a journey about how 

the very infrastructure of our city has to change in order to adapt to climate change.  That has perhaps come 

Page 43



 

 
 

harsher than we had hoped it would through the floods.  That thinking outside the box, and doing so very 

rapidly, in terms of how we make people feel positive about the infrastructure changes that are needed 

because of climate change, is essential for us to see that behaviour change.   

  

It leads into my next question, really.  How can we encourage behavioural change and what kind of behavioural 

changes do we need to encourage for our citizens, in regards to flooding and general climate change 

adaptation?  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  The first thing that we need 

to do is make residents aware of the risk that they are at, because one of the lessons learned for us was that 

residents had not been aware of this type of flood risks.  They were totally unaware, and that is really 

dangerous when you have sewer water flooding and you have basement properties used for sleeping 

accommodation.  It is extremely dangerous.   

 

That is one of the things that we need to be better at.   We need to tell everyone, or at least share information 

on which properties are at risk.  The information is out there but it is only being looked at when this type of 

event is happening, really.  People only worry about flooding when it happens, rather than before it happens.   

 

Then, I do not know how but we need to make them take responsibility for flood risk.  They need to have good 

insurance that covers this type of risk.  They need to have practical measures like, for example, a contingency 

plan or a flood plan.  They need to see if they need any measures to protect the property, which are called 

property level protection measures.   

 

We also need to send a message out.  For example, we had a big scheme in the borough  - you referred to it 

before - and one of the parts of the project involved a large sewer enlargement which would take about three 

years to construct.  Some of the sites were in really highly built-up residential areas and most of the residents 

living in the area who had not been flooded in 2007 were totally opposed to this type of construction impact.  

We need to make people aware that these infrastructure projects need to happen as well, and they need to not 

only think about the temporary construction impact that they are going to suffer, but also the ultimate 

benefits that they will have.   

 

We need to make people aware and us aware that we are not going to solve this problem by only doing green 

infrastructure.  Green infrastructure is great, but we have a big problem and we also require pipes and sewer 

infrastructure.  We need to make sure that we are all on the same lines and understand that there are some 

types of impacts that we are going to suffer at this time to make sure that we reduce the flood risk in future.  

The key message that we need to tell - and it is very difficult to convey this message - is that we cannot stop 

flooding from happening and this will only get worse, so we need to make sure that we adapt to it and we try 

to reduce the consequences of flooding.  The message that we will not be able to stop it is key.  Everyone 

needs to be responsible for their own safety as well.  That is what we need to tell residents.  

 

Sakina Sheikh AM:  Behavioural change and embedding the idea of not panic but responsibility in terms of 

expectations around flood risks is vital.  It is always important, as politicians, to put things in the wider context.  

Comms around this would be key, in terms of bringing people on a journey and that cultural change around our 

behaviour of climate change, but also putting this in context nationally and internationally. 

 

People should not have to feel like they are the only ones doing the heavy lifting to mitigate against climate 

change.  We need to make sure the Government is also doing the heavy lifting in terms of bringing in 

Page 44



 

 
 

accountability around fossil fuel companies.  Internationally as well, it is important to put it in the context that 

the flood events that we have seen have been devastating for the UK - and it really saddens me that so many 

people have had to suffer - have also been happening for many years in many countries around the world.  In 

Bangladesh, for instance, the level of flooding is extremely intense, and small state islands are also highly at 

risk.  This is totally related to what is happening in London and the UK because it is climate change at the 

heart of this.  That international, national, and then regional and local action has to all be in sync in terms of 

actually activating behavioural change.  

 

I will wrap up with this final question.  This is around flooding incidents and we have spoken already a little bit 

about this but it would just be good to tease out your answers again.  Are you satisfied and how do you 

communicate with Thames Water and London Fire Brigade (LFB) to help identify the most vulnerable residents 

when we do have extreme flooding, and what improvements can we hope for if there need to be some?  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  One of the lessons learned 

from this flooding event is that we need to improve our communication with Thames Water.  We have been 

talking to Thames Water and they say that they have improved their phone facilities, because at the time it 

happened we are aware that some residents could not get through to them.  They have improved their facilities 

and they have also given us a direct line to talk to them as officers in an emergency response, so that hopefully 

will have a very positive impact when the next event happens.  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  If I could add, 

our mapping systems in Merton are quite advanced and sophisticated, so we can identify the areas of the 

borough that are more susceptible, more high-risk, and we can identify those households that are vulnerable.  

If COVID has helped us with anything, it has helped us to improve our connectivity with residents right around 

the borough in terms of identifying vulnerability and need.  Our relationship with the LFB is very good and our 

relationship with Thames Water is good and improving.  That bodes well for the future, in terms of us being 

able to ensure that we respond as quickly and as efficiently as we can with those other agencies to support 

those who are most in need in the event of flooding.   

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  A few weeks ago I met the amazing campaigners at Save Earl’s Court campaign.  

They were talking about the kind of dead space that we often see around lots of places in London, but 

particularly the wasteland that is currently there at Earl’s Court.  Do you see a role with that space, in greening 

it, that will deal with some of the issues that we have been speaking about today?  

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  I spent a lot of time and met with the Save Earl’s Court campaign too and I 

admire their passion and their interest in the area.  I certainly think there is an opportunity to implement green 

infrastructure and a very green site on the Earl’s Court Opportunity Area.  It is one of the major opportunities 

in our borough to develop something really special.  I would love to think that there will be, and we will 

certainly be pressing for it.  Our policies support all the kinds of sustainable drainage and green infrastructure 

we have been talking about today.  

 

Absolutely I share the aspiration that it will make a contribution toward mitigating flood risk, and I do think 

that it stands almost alone - also Kensal Canalside - as one of the key sites in Kensington and Chelsea that can 

make a significant contribution on many fronts to the challenges that we face at almost a regional level too.  

 

Page 45



 

 
 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.  I also spoke to Councillor [Linda] Wade [Royal Borough of 

Kensington and Chelsea] and she talked about the possibility of a super-sewer along Warwick Road.  I just 

wondered if you had any reflections, not just for Kensington but more generally, on that kind of infrastructure 

along with SuDS.  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  Do you mean the Counters 

Creek sewer enlargement? 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Exactly, where the intersection is. 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  Yes, we as a council 

support the sewer enlargement, which was part of the Counters Creek Storm Alleviation Scheme, and it had 

other elements to it like local pumping stations, pumps for basement properties and SuDS within Kensington 

and Chelsea, and Hammersmith and Fulham.  So we do support it, but the information that we are going to get 

out of the Thames Water independent review would be: how would this sewer enlargement behave or how 

would it have helped if it were built in July this year, in terms of reducing the flood risk consequences? We 

would be very interested in knowing what would have happened if that sewer was built, but we definitely 

support any infrastructure that is going to reduce the flood risk in the borough. 

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  We certainly do strongly support building up Counters Creek, and it is a 

disappointment that it has not been done yet.  Whilst we recognise there are financial challenges associated 

with delivering a project of that scale, we absolutely want to see it in the next Business Plan and we want it to 

be delivered as soon as possible.   

 

I have met personally with senior representatives at Thames Water and encouraged them to do that, and it is 

something that we intend to keep lobbying for.  I met a number of residents across the borough who have 

asked us about that.  There was awareness of it in the borough as a project that we hoped would start to 

mitigate some of the flood risk.  Councillor Wade is an ally in that and I am very happy to work cross-party 

within our borough to try and produce the best outcome for residents because an issue like flooding, with such 

serious impacts on people’s lives and livelihoods, requires a joined-up response.  

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  Thank you both very much.  Assembly Member Cooper.  

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  We just heard from our previous panel about the impacts of the urban heat island effect, 

how that might particularly be impacting at night, and that we could be 1.5 to 3 degrees higher than 

surrounding areas but even warmer at night.   

 

Chris, what is happening in your borough to increase surface area cooling, for example, through urban 

greening, which obviously has some flood mitigation as well?   

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  The planning 

policies that we have are seeking to ensure the future development reduces overheating, and as I said earlier, 

those are just going through a planning inquiry later this year.  We hope to adopt the most advanced policies 

in terms of future development.   

 

Page 46



 

 
 

We are blessed in Merton with an abundance of green spaces, over 110 parks and open spaces.  We are heavily 

‘treed’, if such a verb exists, in terms of the tree cover that we have in the borough, which we seek to maintain 

and enhance.  We do have plans for more tree planting, principally within our parks because they are easier and 

cheaper to maintain, but also on streets as well because of the canopy cover they provide in order to keep our 

streets cooler.  Some parts of the borough benefit from more trees than others so we are looking at planting 

more trees in those areas which are currently deficient or relatively deficient.  There are those two areas of 

activity.  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):   I support what Chris is 

saying in terms of new development, we have policies and we also follow the London Plan on streetscape and 

layout of the building orientations to facilitate natural cooling rather than cooling by other mechanical ways.  

Then we are also planting additional trees and we have a Heatwave Plan, which is what would happen if 

temperatures increased rapidly.  The Heatwave Plan has different levels or degree of implementation of 

practical measures such as talking to vulnerable people, providing water and ice, talking to general 

practitioners (GPs), etc.  We are trying to put measures in place for new development, also for existing 

development, and for what would happen when it does happen.   

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  In terms of behaviour change, which is obviously quite an important area when 

responding to a heatwave, Chris, given your environment and regeneration remit, are you advising property 

developers around things like shading, awnings and shutters? 

Also, in the event of a heatwave in the way that we were just discussing, is that something that the borough 

responds to by sending out notices to people, alerting people through local WhatsApp groups or Facebook 

groups, or if there is longer, perhaps even leaflets to people?  Do you pick things up particularly in care homes, 

things like that?  Overheating and excess summer deaths particularly affect the older resident and the younger 

resident, just as the excess winter deaths tend to impact on those people.  Is there something that the borough 

is doing around that?  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  There is, but I 

suspect there is more we could do. Our Emergency Planning Team are well hooked into those supplies of 

information around extreme weather events and ensure that that information is disseminated on a daily basis, 

where necessary, to those staff across the organisations.  For example, it can go out to care homes so they 

take extra precautions, and so that our parking staff on the streets make sure they put on sunscreen and carry 

extra water with them.  We need to do more to get that message out to residents and to the community more 

consistently, and that is something that we will be looking at.   

 

Our Climate Change Plan anticipates many of these changes that we will be facing in the city over the years to 

come.  We will be working on how we improve our engagement with residents and raising awareness, and how 

we can adapt to those sorts of events and get that behaviour change.  That is going to be the most challenging 

issue here.  How do we use the most modern techniques in order to make people aware but not panic, and to 

make sure that we get the right behaviour change to adapt for the future? 

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  In terms of the Cool Spaces Initiative, how involved is the borough in that and what has 

been the local impact so far?  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  We are 

absolutely aware of the Cool Spaces Initiative and we have a number of cool spaces in the borough in terms of 

Page 47



 

 
 

our parks and open spaces, which have an abundance of shade and protection, and we will continue to remain 

involved and engaged in that process.  

 

Léonie Cooper AM:  I am hoping that the advent of the pocket park and seeing more of those is going to be 

a way to create more of those cool spaces, and getting those trees planted down the street so it is not just in 

the wider open spaces as we were referring to earlier.  I will leave it there, Chair, thank you very much. 

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  I am with you there, Assembly Member Cooper.  Assembly Member Best.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Just to the Kensington and Chelsea contingent, please, how is your borough working to 

ensure that the most vulnerable citizens are being protected against the effects of extreme heat in London, 

such as the elderly and children?  

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  That is a really important question.  We are ensuring that the Local Plan 

addresses extreme weather in new development, and the streetscape, layout and orientation of buildings 

enhance actual ventilation.  The provision of green infrastructure is also reducing the heat island effect, and, as 

we have been talking about, there are additional street trees being planted and parks have been added to the 

Local Government Association’s (LGA) programme.   

 

The Greening SPD that I have mentioned a bit earlier today, particularly the section on building design, shows 

that the  “Be Lean” step is at the top of the London Plan Energy Hierarchy; Chapter 5 deals with orientation 

and issues such as the glazing ratio, which is valuable; and the other element that might be useful is in 

Chapter 11, which is dealing with urban greening, so the green walls and roofs can be looked at in particular. 

All of these sorts of things can help but certainly Chapter 5, which is aimed at new build in particular and 

retrofitting existing buildings by greening, as in Chapter 11, may assist.   

 

As we have talked a little bit about, we also have our Heatwave Plan that deals with different health alert levels 

and actions, warning meetings and practical measures.  Things like measuring temperatures in locations used 

by vulnerable people, provisional cold water and ice, phoning or visiting vulnerable residents, and liaising with 

GPs are all things that we can do to try and protect the most vulnerable in the case of extreme heat in London, 

as we have been starting to see more and more of.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Thank you for that, Johnny.  What could the Mayor do to support you in those initiatives? 

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  I certainly think that there is a lot more that we can do.  More joined up 

working in terms of producing policies.  Where possible, we would want to feed into future London Plans and 

look at accessing funding to try to deliver more green infrastructure.  There are things that we can work 

together on and, as I said before, working with the Mayor’s Office and anybody with an interest in the issues 

would certainly be valuable for us.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Is there anything specifically you are doing to work with care homes in Chelsea and 

Kensington to protect those residents? 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  Yes, the Heatwave Plan 

talks about different actions, and the hotter it gets the more specific the action is.  Our colleagues in 

Page 48



 

 
 

contingency planning would be talking to care homes and advising them on the different measures that they 

can take, and not just care homes but also local GPs that might provide further information or further practical 

measures that have been implemented.  That is what we are doing at the moment.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Thank you.  Do you believe that the policies in the London Plan, such as the management 

of heat risk policy, contain provisions to ensure that new large developments do not overheat?  Do you believe 

those are working?  

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  I am not specialised on heat 

and on the orientation and layout of buildings, but the London Plan has always been a reference to us on any 

specific policies that try to address climate change.  I would assume that they do have a positive effect and, 

therefore, we can ask for them to be implemented in our new developments.  

 

Emma Best AM:  I suppose that you would not reflect that there is anything that you would like to see extra 

in the London Plan at this point? 

 

Patricia Cuervo (Senior Flood and Water Management Officer, Royal Borough of Kensington and 

Chelsea; Co-Chair and Planning Lead, London Drainage Engineers Group):  Not for the time being.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Thank you.  Finally, Chair, if I may, Assembly Member Cooper talked about the cooling 

initiatives.  Are there any schools in your borough that delivered the C40 [Cities] Cooling Schools initiative?  

 

Councillor Johnny Thalassites (Lead Member for Planning, Place and Environment, Royal Borough 

of Kensington and Chelsea):  I am not aware of any off the top of my head but it is something we would 

like to look at, and we are in close dialogue with schools about issues like flooding.  Over the course of the 

recent flood events, at least three schools were affected and had to close for a period, so it is something that 

we are certainly liaising on closely and I work with colleagues on.  

 

Emma Best AM:  Chris, could I ask the same to you, if any of you have done any C40 Cooling Schools 

initiatives?  

 

Chris Lee (Director of Environment and Regeneration, London Borough of Merton):  I am sorry.  I am 

not aware of that at all.  

 

Emma Best AM: It is maybe a scheme that could do with some more promotion then, Chair, but I will leave it 

there.  Thank you.  

 

Zack Polanski AM (Chair):  It sounds like it.  Thank you all very much.  Thank you to our panel for joining 

us.  Thank you, Chris, Patricia and Johnny, really appreciated your contributions, and thank you to my fellow 

Assembly Members. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Environment Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 15 November 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report updates the Committee on the progress made on actions arising from previous meetings 

of the Environment Committee. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes the ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Environment Committee. 

3. Summary List of Actions 

Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 30 September 2021 

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Actions Status 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London  

Wastewater 

Systems 

Strategy 

Manager, 

Thames Water 

 Provide a copy of the independent 

review of Thames Waters’ response 

to the July 2021 flooding events; 

and 

 Provide the Terms of Reference of 

that independent review. 

Followed-

up 2 

November 

2021 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London 

London Area 

Director, 

Environment 

Agency 

 Provide a copy of the July 2021 

post-incident review.  

Completed 

– circulated 

separately 

to Members 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/


Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Actions Status 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London 

Assistant 

Director for 

Environment 

and Energy, 

and Head of 

Climate 

Change, GLA 

 Provide plans for implementation 

of Sustainable Urban Drainage 

Systems solutions and 

infrastructure around hospitals in 

London, in response to localised 

flooding which caused operational 

issues and forced closures at 

Whipps Cross Hospital and 

Newham Hospital in July 2021. 

Followed-

up 2 

November 

2021 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London 

Chief Safety, 

Health and 

Environment 

Officer, TfL 

 Provide further information on 

means of increasing urban tree 

cover on the main road network. 

Followed-

up 2 

November 

2021 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London 

Director of 

Environment & 

Regeneration, 

London 

Borough of 

Merton 

 Provide feedback to the 

Committee on whether there had 

been any instances where the 

Planning Enforcement Team 

(London Borough of Merton) had 

investigated a development in 

respect of breaching non-

permeable surface conditions 

granted by permitted development 

rights.    

Followed-

up 2 

November 

2021 

6 Climate 

Adaptation and 

Climate Risks in 

London 

Senior Policy 

Advisor 
 That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chairman and party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any 

output arising from the meeting. 

In progress 

 

  

Page 52



Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 13 July 2021  

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action Status 

9 London’s 

Engagement 

with COP26 

Assistant 

Directors, for 

Environment 

and Energy 

 Provide a breakdown of ‘green 

jobs’, where they will be created 

and how many there will be. 

Followed-

up  

2 

November 

2021 

Actions Arising from the Meeting Held on 15 January 2020 

Item 

No.: 

Item Title Responsible 

Person 

Action Status 

6 Climate Change 

and Extreme 

Weather 

Co-Founder 

and Chief 

Technical 

Officer, Water 

Retail 

Company. 

 Provide the site locations that the 

Community Water Management 

for a Liveable London project had 

been focusing on. 

Followed-

up on 22 

October 

2021.  

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

5. Financial Implications 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: 

None 

 

  

Page 53



Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Fiona Bywaters, Committee Services Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4425 

E-mail:  fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 54

mailto:fiona.bywaters@london.gov.uk


  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Circular Economy, Waste and Recycling 

Report to: Environment Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 15 November 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report provides background information for the Environment Committee meeting on the circular 

economy, waste and recycling in London. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 
guests and notes the subsequent discussion; and  

 
2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chairman and party Group Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the meeting. 

3. Background 

3.1       London generates an enormous amount of waste and a rising population means even more waste 

and an increasing challenge to waste infrastructure in London. This growth will be unsustainable and 

exert an increasing strain on waste infrastructure, land and resources.  

3.2       The Mayor has acknowledged that the way London creates, handles and disposes of waste must 

change. The London Environment Strategy (LES) forms part of the planning framework for the 

capital and sets out an ambitious target for London be a zero-waste city.1 By 2026, no 

biodegradable or recyclable waste will be sent to landfill and by 2030, 65% of London’s municipal 

waste will be recycled. 

  

                                                 

1 GLA, London Environment Strategy, 31 May 2018 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5

http://www.london.gov.uk/
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/london-environment-strategy


  

3.3.      Part of this will be underpinned by developing a low carbon circular economy to facilitate the 

ultimate goals of the LES. The concept of a circular economy advocates a shift from the linear 

economy of ‘take, make and dispose’ to a low carbon circular economy where products and other 

resources will need to be designed and recycled to keep them in use for as long as possible. This will 

yield long-term resilience, business and economic opportunities and environmental and societal 

benefits for London by reducing the city’s carbon emissions to reach net zero.  

3.4 The primary aim of this Committee meeting will be to explore to what extent the LES is on track to 

meet its targets in respect of managing waste and more broadly its progress towards a low carbon 

circular economy.   

4. Issues for Consideration  

4.1 Today London is facing a host of environmental challenges and waste management is no exception. 

An expected growth in population has repercussions for waste management, both environmentally 

and financially.  We know that boroughs are already struggling, recycling rates are stagnating, and 

waste being sent to incineration is increasing, but we also know that London has a wealth of 

resources to maximise the value and minimise the impact of waste. 

4.2 Waste management is key to London’s environmental and economic stability. This investigation will 

focus on how to improve and promote the circular economy, waste and recycling in order to boost 

London’s green economy and deliver sustainable growth. 

4.3 London’s primary strategy for municipal waste and business waste is through the Mayor’s LES, 

published on 31 May 2018. This sets out the Mayor’s vision to protect and improve London’s 

environment. It also sets a direction of travel for the Mayor and his partners who need to collaborate 

to achieve these ambitions. 

4.4 The Mayor also published an Implementation Plan, which set out those actions that the Mayor has 

prioritised to take forward directly between 2018 and 2023. The 'London Environment Strategy: One 

year on report’ was published in December 2019, covering the period from the beginning of the 

Mayor’s term (May 2016) to October 2019.  

4.5 As a result of COVID-19, a London Environment Strategy Implementation Plan year two report was 

not produced, however the ‘London Environment Strategy: Second Progress Report (2019-2021)’ 

was produced in September 2021. Therefore, it is a timely opportunity for the Committee to assess 

current progress against the initial aims and ambitions of the original LES. The Committee will also 

consider to what extent delivery plans and targets have been met or may need to change. 

4.6 The Environment Committee has a body of past work on waste and recycling. In March 2018, the 

Committee produced a report called Wasting London’s Future following a large-scale investigation.  

This report set out several recommendations on preventing waste, on increasing recycling and 

reducing waste. Three years on and considering the publication of the LES Second Progress Report, 

it is an opportune moment to review progress against the Committee’s earlier recommendations.  

4.7 Non-GLA actors also play a crucial role in waste management and recycling, including local 

authorities and private waste management companies. The private sector is responsible for most of 

the economic activity that brings materials into the economy and there are many third sector 

organisations involved in service delivery. The Committee meeting will look to involve some of these 

key delivery partners in order to highlight areas of innovative best practice and to more broadly 

consider what more the Mayor may need to do in this area. 

Page 56



  

4.8 The following guests are invited to answer questions at the meeting and inform the Committee’s 

investigation: 

 Andrew Dunwoody, Policy and Programmes Manager Waste and the Green Economy, Greater 

London Authority; 

 Rachel Ledwith MBE, Head of Community Engagement, The Felix Project; 

 Sarah O’Carroll, Cities Lead, Ellen MacArthur Foundation; 

 Ugo Vallauri, Co-founder and Policy Lead, The Restart Project; and  

 Wayne Hubbard, CEO, ReLondon. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1       The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

6. Financial Implications 

6.1       There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Luis Alvarado, Senior Policy Advisor 

Telephone: 07733 305 791 

E-mail:  luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



  

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 www.london.gov.uk 

v1/2021 

Subject: Environment Committee Work 
Programme 

Report to: Environment Committee 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Date: 15 November 2021 

Public 
Access: 

This report will be considered in public 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the work programme for the Environment Committee for the remainder of the 

2021/22 Assembly year. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme and informal activity, namely invitations to 

the Southwark Council Staff Climate Network and COP26. 

2.2 That the Committee notes the response received from the Mayor of London regarding 

London’s engagement with COP26, as well as the additional correspondence sent and 

received on this subject. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

3.2 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its role: 

to examine and report on matters relating to the environment in London and to lead on scrutiny of 

the Mayor’s Environment Strategy. 

  

Page 59

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/


  

4. Issues for Consideration  

Schedule of Meetings 

4.1 The Committee’s meeting schedule was formally approved by the London Assembly at its  

Mayor's Question Time meeting on 15 July 2021, with the work programme subsequently approved 

by the GLA Oversight Committee on 15 September 2021. It is proposed that the investigations are 

approached as follows: 

15 November 2021 Circular Economy, Waste & Recycling in London 

13 December 2021 Climate Adaptation & Climate Risks in London (Part 2) 

27 January 2022 Ecological Corridors & Biodiversity (TBC) 

22 February 2022 Town Hall with Campaign Groups & Deputy Mayor Q&A (TBC) 

21 March 2022 ULEZ & Air Pollution (TBC) 

Correspondence 

4.2 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed a letter to the  

Mayor of London on realising the opportunities from COP26 (as sent on 13 August 2021 and 

previously reported to Committee). A response was received on 25 October 2021 and is attached at  

Appendix 1 for noting. 

 

4.3 The Chair also wrote to the Mayor of London requesting participation in the delegation to COP26, 

writing in similar terms to the [The Rt Hon] Alok Sharma MP as President for COP26. This letter is 

attached at Appendix 2, with the response received on 29 October 2021 at Appendix 3, for 

noting. 

Informal Activity 

4.4 Further to the above correspondence, the Chair and Deputy Chairman are now set to attend COP26 

in Glasgow on the 10 November (transport focus), and 11 November (cities and regions day), 

following accreditation extended by the Cabinet Office.  

4.5 On 4 November 2021, the Chair spoke at the Southwark Council Staff Climate Network on the 

importance of COP26 being hosted in the UK, and the growing role of cities, municipalities and local 

leadership in accelerating climate action. 

5. Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

6. Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

  

Page 60



  

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers:  None 

Contact Information 

Contact Officer: Luis Alvarado, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone: 07733 305 791 

E-mail:  luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 61

mailto:luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



 

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London, SE1 2AA ♦ mayor@london.gov.uk ♦ london.gov.uk ♦ 020 7983 4000 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Dear Zack, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 13 August and I am sorry for the delay in responding. 
 
COP26 represents a vital moment for the world in ensuring that nations commit to ambitious, 
binding emissions reductions targets to limit global warming to 1.5C degrees and that new and 
additional financial support is mobilised to allow this to happen.  
 
I am looking forward to attending events at COP26 as an opportunity to highlight how London is 
leading the way in many aspects of tackling the climate emergency and will use my role as part of 
C40 cities to share London’s activity and achievements on the global stage. But I also see the 
conference as an opportunity to bring together partners in London across many different sectors to 
move further and faster so that London can be a net zero carbon city by 2030.  
 
Whilst cities and regions are not part of the COP26 negotiations and the process of setting 
National Determined Contributions, cities do have an essential role to play in tackling the climate 
emergency, and national governments cannot achieve net zero without working with cities to 
deliver action at a local level. Over half of the required emissions cuts require decisions made at the 
local level, with the Committee on Climate Change finding that the Sixth Carbon Budget can only 
be achieved if Government, regional agencies and local authorities work seamlessly together. Local 
areas require a coherent national strategy or framework to enable and resource ambitious local 
action on climate change.  
 
In response to your question on opportunities ahead of and during COP26, Annex 1 of my Deputy 
Mayor for Environment and Energy’s recent response to you outlined in more detail the activities 
that London has been taking part in in the lead up to COP26, and how action will continue to ramp 
up as the conference approaches.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sadiq Khan 
Mayor of London                     

Zack Polanski AM 
Chair of the Environment Committee 
C/o luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk  
 
 
 

Our ref: MGLA160821-0683 
 
 
Date: 25 October 2021 

Appendix 1

Page 63

mailto:luis.alvarado@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



 

[V2] 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Zack Polanski AM 

Chair of the Environment Committee 

 

Sadiq Khan 
Mayor of London 
 
 
(Sent by email) 6 October 2021 
 

Dear Sadiq, 
 

Environment Committee delegation to COP26 
 
We are writing in the lead up to the forthcoming UN Climate Change Conference in Glasgow 
from 31 October – 12 November 2021 to request that the Environment Committee Chair, and 
members of the Environment Committee, are included in the Greater London Authority’s 
delegation.  
 
You have set out your ambition for London to reach net zero emissions by 2030 and have 
highlighted your intention to use COP26 to highlight the vital role that London and cities around 
the world can play in tackling climate change1. The Environment Committee has engaged closely 
and regularly with the range of issues, risks and potential consequences associated directly and 
indirectly with climate change for London, as well as hearing from stakeholders and experts.  
 
It is crucial that the opportunity is not missed for London Assembly Members to contribute their 
experience and insight to the conference.  The Committee is directly able to do this from its work 
gathering and understanding the perspectives of individuals, families, communities as well as 

 
1 MQT 2021/3014, COP26, 15 July 2021 

 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
More London 
London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 4000 
www.london.gov.uk 

 

Appendix 2

Page 65

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2021/3014
http://www.london.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 

reflecting infrastructural impacts.  It would be a missed opportunity not to be able to directly 
share this with, and hear from, other delegations from cities across the world.  
 
The Environment Committee continues to work to understand, investigate and scrutinise how 
London is experiencing and adapting to the consequences of climate change.  It has published a 
number of formative reports on environmental topics in recent years. In particular, as you know, 
in April 2020 the Committee published ‘The Climate Emergency: Extreme Weather and 
Emissions’2 that drew attention to London’s vulnerability to flooding, drought, and heat. Now, 
we are preparing to hold a Committee investigation, in October, into climate change adaptation 
in the capital particularly in the light of recent flooding incidents in London in summer 2021.  
 
We believe members of the Environment Committee should be given the opportunity to 
contribute to the GLA’s delegation, including with ‘blue zone’ accreditation. We have also written 
to Alok Sharma, President of COP26, making the same request.  
 
We look forward to hearing your response. 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

Zack Polanski AM 

Chair of the Environment Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

Tony Devenish AM 

Deputy Chair of the Environment Committee 

 

 
2 The Climate Emergency: Extreme Weather and Emissions, London Assembly, April 2020 

Page 66

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_environment_committee_-_climate_emergency_report_final.pdf


 

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London, SE1 2AA ♦ mayor@london.gov.uk ♦ london.gov.uk ♦ 020 7983 4000 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Dear Zack and Tony, 
 
Thank you both for your letter of 6 October. 
 
The UN Climate Change Conference in Glasgow is a crossroads for the world in ensuring that 
nations commit to ambitious, binding emissions reductions targets to limit global warming to 1.5C 
degrees and that new and additional financial support is mobilised to allow this to happen.  
 
As I have set out, I am looking forward to attending events at COP26 in Glasgow as an opportunity 
to highlight how London is leading the way in many aspects of tackling the climate emergency and 
will use my international role as part of C40 cities to share London’s activity and achievements on 
the global stage. But I also see the conference as an opportunity to bring together partners in 
London across many different sectors to move further and faster so that London can be a net zero 
carbon city by 2030. 
 
I am afraid that decisions on accreditation for COP26 rest with the COP26 President and UK 
Government, and indeed the Greater London Authority has only been allocated a very limited 
number of passes to access the ‘blue zone’ at COP26, the area primarily designated for nations to 
negotiate on emission reduction targets. That said, there is a full schedule of events taking place 
outside of the ‘blue zone’, including the ‘green zone’ which has a separate application process. This 
provides a number of opportunities for the Assembly to contribute your work, experience and 
insight with those attending in particular on the Cities and Built Environment Day.   
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sadiq Khan 
Mayor of London       

Zack Polanski AM 
Chair of the Environment Committee 
Tony Devenish AM 
Deputy Chair of the Environment Committee 
C/o Luis.Alvarado@london.gov.uk   
 
 
 

Our ref: MGLA061021-4724 
 
 
Date: 29 October 2021 

Appendix 3

Page 67

https://greenzonetickets.ukcop26.org/home
mailto:Luis.Alvarado@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Panel 1 Transcript
	Panel 2 Transcript

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Circular Economy, Waste and Recycling
	6 Environment Committee Work Programme
	06a Appendix 1 Mayor response to Chair (COP26)
	06b Appendix 2 Chair to Mayor (COP26)
	Zack Polanski AM
	Chair of the Environment Committee
	Zack Polanski AM
	Chair of the Environment Committee
	Tony Devenish AM
	Deputy Chair of the Environment Committee

	06c Appendix 3 Mayor response to Chair (COP26)


